
COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

Thursday 10 December 2015

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 10 December 2015
VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 
29 September 2015.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452  
324220

2.  Public Questions on Application(s) 
To answer any written or public questions about the application(s) 
before the Committee at this meeting.  The closing date /time for 
the receipt of questions 
is 10 am on 3 December 2015.

With the consent of the Chairperson, to answer any oral 
question(s) on the application(s) before the Committee at this 
meeting put by members of the public, where notice of such has 
been given to the Chief Executive (or their representative) by 
9.30am on 10 December 2015..

Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452  
324220

3.  Members Questions on Application(s) 

To answer any written members’ questions on the application(s) 
before Committee at the meeting. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10am on 3 December 2015.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452  
324220

4.  Additional Bridleway and Upgrade Footpath ZCK/6 (part) to 
Bridleway, Greenway Lane to Ryeworth Road, Charlton Kings 
(Pages 7 - 102)

To consider the following application:



Nature of Application: Additional bridleway and upgrade 
public footpath ZCK/6 (part) to bridleway 
Parish: Charlton Kings 
Name of Applicant: Jenny Hughes  
Date of Application: 25 June 2012 

5.  Additional Footpath - Hills Farm track to Horse's Ash Lane, 
Chedworth (Pages 103 - 196)

To consider the following application:

Nature of Application: Additional length of public footpath
Parish: Chedworth 
Name of Applicants: Chedworth Parish Council  
Date of Application: 1 December 2006

6.  Public Questions - 

To answer any written or public questions about the matters, 
which are within the powers and duties of the Committee.
The closing date /time for the receipt of questions is 10 am on 3 
December 2015

To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public, 
subject to the question having been registered by 9.30am on 10 
December.

Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452  
324220

7.  Members' Questions - 

To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time 
for the receipt of questions is 10 am on 3 December 2015.

Jane Cleaver
Tel: 01452  
324220

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Tony Hicks, Richard Leppington, Cllr Paul McMahon, 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Prince, Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Robert Vines

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


(c) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

(d) Please note substitution arrangements are in place as detailed in the 
Constitution.

(e) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact 

Jane Cleaver, Senior Democratic Services Advisor, 01452 425094 e-mail 
jane.cleaver@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(f) RECORDING OF MEETINGS - Please note that photography, filming and audio 
recording of Council meetings is permitted subject to the Local Government 
Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 425096) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If 
you are a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed 
please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.cleaver@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Commons and Rights of Way Committee held on Tuesday 
29 September 2015 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Tony Hicks
Cllr Richard Leppington
Cllr Paul McMahon

Cllr Nigel Moor (Chairman)
Cllr David Prince
Cllr Simon Wheeler

Substitutes: Cllr Roger Wilson

Apologies: Cllr Robert Vines

19. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Resolved

That Cllr Nigel Moor be elected Chairman for the remainder of the civic year.

20. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN 

Resolved

That Cllr Paul McMahon be elected Vice-Chairman for the remainder of the civic 
year.

21. MINUTES 

Resolved

That the minutes of the meeting held on 22 April be approved as a correct record.

22. PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON APPLICATION(S) 

No written questions had been received from members of the public on the 
applications before Committee.

The following oral questions were received with the Chairman’s agreement:

1. Mr and Mrs Gardiner

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

My wife and I are the landowners of the footpath that is being consider by the 
Commons and Rights of Way Committee tomorrow, regarding an application to 
record its status as a bridleway. I am very concerned that I only became aware this 
over the weekend, from another local resident.

Please be advised that I will be attending the meeting and that I wish to ask the 
following verbal public questions. By providing these in advance, in writing, 
Members will hopefully be better forewarned and able to answer them:

Question 1 - Last year I advised Andrew Houlday that my wife and I are the current 
owners of the land affected by the application to upgrade footpath MBL 13 to a 
bridleway – and I specifically asked Mr Houlday to keep me advised of any 
developments related to the application. Why was I not advised  of the report and 
the meeting that is taking place today, to decide matters related to my land, after 
specifically requesting that Gloucestershire County Council should do so?

Question 2 – As a consequence of the Council failing to keep me updated as 
requested, I had no knowledge of this meeting and report until  thirty six hours ago. 
I have therefore had insufficient time to research some aspects in the report that I 
simply disagree with and would have wished to submit public questions to clarify – 
particularly related to information in the report that is conflicting and inconclusive. 
Please can these comments be recorded in the minutes as I believe I have been 
disadvantaged, by being deprived of sufficient time to research and prepare 
questions which could have better informed Members to decide the application?    

Question 3 -  I have always understood that the historical owners of the land gave 
permission for the footpath to be used by horse riders - and the report prepared for 
this committee also seems to indicate this more strongly than the route being used 
as of right. Even some of the user evidence submitted is more indicative of use by 
consent - such as the evidence of use submitted by Jo Workman: “Mrs Young (the 
late) said it could be ridden on horseback about 30 years ago”. As Mrs Young was 
the land owner, this statement appears more likely to be an acknowledgment of the 
owners permission for  horse riding, around 1980, than acknowledgment of use as 
of right.  The report also states that, following discussions with the landowner in 
1997, it appeared to Officers that historical use of the footpath was permissive 
rather than as of right. Can Mr Houlday please explain how he has decided that 
riders were exercising use as of right, when there is reasonable evidence that they 
were exercising permissive rights?

Question 4 – The report states that the date when use with horses came into 
question is also critical to the decision, because it establishes the commencement 
date from which horse riders must produce evidence of use. Council officers have 
defined this as 1996, based on public complaints in 1995 and the “no horse signs 
installed in October 1996. However, I believe that many horse riders were 
challenged earlier than this, by local residents, in a similar way to which the user 
evidence from Heather Silverthorne admits “Lady from Keepers Cottage told me not 
to ride it as it was not a bridleway”. Such challenges also bring the status of the 
route into question, so have Officers sought any further input on the date of the 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

above challenge and the extent of other challenges that nearby residents may have 
made?

Question 5 – Readers of the  report will have noted that the “no horses” signs were 
installed by the Council in October 1996, but there is no reported contact from 
claimed horse riders of the route until 11 years later, in July 2008. This lack of 
action or reaction to the signs installed by the Council appears incredible and 
unexplainable. Can the Council please confirm whether it has a record of any 
complaints or comments having been received from horse riders, to the signs it 
installed in 2008?

Question 6 – Readers will also have noted that 7 of the evidence forms erroneously 
refer to the “recently installed” “no hoses signs”. As the signs were installed circa 13 
years before the evidence forms were submitted , have Officers investigated why so 
many claimed users have erroneously made the same thirteen years error in their 
statements?

Question 7 – As evidence form 3,submitted by Flavia Cooper was accompanied by 
a plan, that admits her use with horses was not over the application route, why is it 
included in the “Period Of Use” document prepared for Members to show a 
contribution to user evidence over ML11 and ML 13?

Question 8 – Evidence form 9, submitted by Anne Hogg, is totally contradictory. It 
claims use from the 1970s to 1995 (approx). It then describes that as 40 to 50 years 
use (approx) – and then goes on to say the frequency of use was approx 4 times a 
year in the 60s and 5 in the 70s and 80s. Has the Council managed to clarify what 
use Mrs Hogg is actually claiming – as it clearly cannot be regarded as admissible 
user evidence as it stands?

Question 9 - Will this Committee agree to defer a decision on this application, until I 
have had reasonable time to conduct some research regarding the report content 
and conclusions – and construct questions based upon that?

2. Mr Knight

Q1: What new evidence is there to contradict the previous GCC officer’s 
conclusion, after talking to the landowner Mr Young, that "Use of MBL13 appears to 
be permissive and not as of right."  (15.21)?   
 
- GCC (with Mr Young, the landowner) went to great lengths and expense in 1995 
to uphold the footpath status IMMEDIATELY after the period in question
- Surely GCC would not have done this if they did not think it was justified and valid.
 
Q2: Why was this application not submitted during the previous 20 years, when Mr 
Young (the landowner at the time in question) was alive and able to answer the 
question about whether the horse use between 1975 and 1995  was "permissive" or 
"granted to the public of right"?  Why did the applicant (assisted by one of the 
evidence witnesses who is a member of the Right of Way team on Stroud District 
Council) wait until Mr Young's death?

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

 
- This timing seems to be deliberate, in the knowledge that there would be few other 
witnesses remaining who could challenge their assertion
 
Q3: Why were affected landowners and local residents not informed about this 
hearing?  In the spirit of transparent governance, should they not be entitled to 
have access to the full report with sufficient time to research and compile their 
questions? 
 
Q4: The statements 8.1 to 8.14 all mention that Mr Young as the landowner granted 
permissive use by horses on his section of the footpath. Has anyone from GCC 
asked any other landowners or local residents SPECIFICALLY whether use of the 
footpath by horses was regularly challenged by them during the period 1975-1995?  
I ask this as in the very limited time I have had, I have been able to identify at least 
one person who stopped and challenged horseriders during this period.
 
This fact is also freely admitted in several of the horseriders evidence statements!

Having formally noted receipt of the questions which all referred to agenda item 6, 
the Committee agreed that officers should be asked to respond to the matters 
raised in writing in due course.

23. MEMBERS QUESTIONS ON APPLICATION(S) 

No questions had been received from Members on the applications before the 
Committee.

24. APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER TO UPGRADE 
PUBLIC FOOTPATHS MBL/11 (PART) MBL/13 TO BRIDLEWAYS TOADSMOOR 
ROAD, PARISH OF BISLEY WITH LYPIATT 

Having noted the receipt of new issues relating to this application which officers had 
not yet had an opportunity to consider, the Committee

Resolved

That, in the light of the issues raised by the landowners, consideration of this 
application be deferred to a later date to allow further consultation with all interested 
parties to take place.

25. APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER TO UPGRADE 
PUBLIC FOOTPATH DLH/9 TO A BRIDLEWAY MAY HILL, PARISH OF 
LONGHOPE 

Andrew Houldey, Asset Data Officer (PROW Definitive Map) gave a detailed 
presentation to the Committee, aided by a power-point presentation which included 
photographs of the footpaths under consideration.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

In response to questions from the Committee the following matters were noted:

 As the footpaths traversed a SSSI, Natural England had been asked for 
comments on the application but, to date, had not responded.

 A designation as restricted by-way did not allow access by mechanical 
vehicles.  Designation as a restricted by-way allowed access by all other 
members of the public on foot, horseback (or leading a horse), by bicycle or 
horse and cart.  However there may be private access rights such as 
allowing local residents access to their homes by motor-vehicle.

 The footpaths were only shown on the map to the county boundary – on the 
ground the paths extended into Herefordshire.

Having given due consideration to all the information before it, the Committee

Resolved

1. That an order be made to reclassify the section of footpath DLH/9 from Folly 
Lane to the summit of May Hill to a bridleway  (section A to E on map B).

2. That an order be made to reclassify the section of footpath DLH/9 from the 
summit of May Hill north to the boundary with Aston Ingham parish to a 
restricted by-way  (section A to E on map B).

26. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

A total of three written questions had been received.  A copy of the questions and 
answers had been published on the Council’s website and circulated to the 
Committee prior to the meeting.  The information was taken ‘as read’ at the 
meeting.

No supplementary or oral questions were asked at the meeting.

27. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No questions had been received from Councillors.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at Time Not Specified

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE  
10 DECEMBER 2015  
 
AGENDA ITEM:  1 

 
 

APPLICATION FOR A DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER FOR AN 
ADDITIONAL LENGTH OF PUBLIC BRIDLEWAY AND  

TO UPGRADE PUBLIC FOOTPATHS ZCK/6 (PART) TO BRIDLEWAY 
GREENWAY LANE TO RYEWORTH ROAD, CHARLTON KINGS 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMISSIONING DIRECTOR  

FOR COMMUNITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
 
1.    PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

To consider the following application: 
 
Nature of Application: Additional bridleway and upgrade public 

footpath ZCK/6 (part) to bridleway  

Parish: Charlton Kings  

Name of Applicant: Jenny Hughes   

Date of Application: 25 June 2012  

 
2.    RECOMMENDATION 

 
That an order be made add a length of bridleway and to reclassify part of public 
footpath ZCK/6 to a bridleway, as claimed  
 

3.    RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

Cost of advertising Order in the local press, which has to be done twice, is 
approximately £500 per notice. 
In addition, the County Council is responsible for meeting the costs of any Public 
Inquiry associated with the application. 
If the application were successful, the path would become maintainable at the 
public expense. 

  
4.    SUSTAINABILITY & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
No sustainability or equality implications have been identified.  

 
5. STATUTORY AUTHORITY 

 
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 imposes a duty on the County 
Council, as surveying authority, to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review and to modify it in consequence of the occurrence of an ‘event’ 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

specified in sub section [3].  Any person may make an application to the authority 
for a Definitive Map Modification Order on the occurrence of an ‘event’ under 
section 53 [3] [b] or [c].  The County Council is obliged to determine any such 
application that satisfies the required submission criteria in accordance with 
schedule 14 of the Act. 

 
6.    DEPARTMENTAL CONTACT 

 
Andrew Houldey, Asset Data Officer (PROW Definitive Map), Definitive Map Unit, 
Highway Records, Asset Data Team.  Telephone Gloucester (01452) 328984 
E-mail: andrew.houldey@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
 

 
REPORT 
 
7. DESCRIPTION OF PATH 
 
7.1 A location map at scale 1: 4,000 is attached (numbered 1A) showing the position 

of the claimed path at Charlton Kings.  The claimed path is approximately 2 miles 
east-south east of the town of Cheltenham.  The area of interest lies within 
Ordnance Survey Grid Square SO 8804. 

 
7.2 A large-scale map showing the whole of the claimed route at 1: 1,250 scale is 

attached (numbered 1B).  This map shows the claimed path by a broken black line 
between points A, B, C and D.  The claimed path runs from Greenway Lane at 
point A along a track to point B, and then across a field to point C, from which it 
continues in a south-westerly direction along public footpath ZCK/6 to point D 
where it joins Ryeworth Road.  The distance between points A and B is 
approximately 60 metres, the distance between points B and C is approximately 
170 metres, and the distance between points C and D is approximately 80 metres.  
The total length of the claimed path is approximately 310 metres.  

 
7.3 The waste ground was fenced off in around October 2011, with security fencing 

erected along the boundary with public footpath ZCK/6, blocking any access 
between the sections of the claimed route A to C from C to D.  Wooden post and 
rail fencing was erected against Greenway Lane, and a wooden field gate erected 
at point A.   The area of land between points B and C was cleared of scrub at this 
time and it is now grassland with some small trees.   

 
7.4 The claimed path was inspected on 30 April 2014 and on 20 November 2015.  The 

claimed route passes through a field gate at point A, which was chained and 
padlocked.  Close to point A, high on a tree, there is a sign reading “Private No 
Public Right of Way”; this sign was in place in November 2015, but was not in 
position during earlier site visits.  Between points A and B, the way follows a 
defined track between mature trees, with a width of approximately 1.8 metres; on 
the north of the claimed route is a wooded area with a pond.  The claimed route 
then skirts the southern boundary of Charlton Kings Cricket (formerly Ryeworth) 
Ground, before continuing in an approximately south-easterly direction across a 
field to meet existing public footpath ZCK/6.  A length of post and wire fencing with 
two barbed wire strands obstructed the claimed route at point B in November 

Page 8



3 
 

2015; however, this fence was not present on all previous site visits.  The southern 
boundary of the field is enclosed by metal security fencing which prevents access 
to public footpath ZCK/6.   

 
7.5 The section of path C to D follows public footpath ZCK/6 down to a wooden wicket 

gate at point D.  The public footpath is surfaced with stone and then tarmac with a 
grass verge.  The width of the path is 1.7 metres at the south-west corner of the 
field, widening to 2.4 metres at the gate to the adjacent allotments and then 2.4 
metres at point D.  The path is enclosed on its western side by the metal security 
fence and then by a chain link fence where it borders the allotments, and by a 
wooden picket fence on the eastern side.  Approximately 15 metres north-east of 
point D the claimed route joins public footpath ZCK/26 which runs across the 
adjacent allotments, roughly parallel with the claimed route between points A and 
C.  Access to the path is by a metal and wire link gate, secured by a bolt.  

 
7.6 At point D the path joins Ryeworth Road.  There is a double wicket gate at point D.  

Each gate is 1.5 metres in width.  At the bottom of the left-hand gate is a bolt 
which can be lifted to allow both gates to be opened.  Both gates were openable in 
November 2015, although the left-hand gate is partly obstructed by a litter bin, 
erected after August 2012.    

 
7.7 Close to point D is a metal finger post with a sign showing a walker, which reads 

“Greenway Lane ¼ Mill Lane 1”. 
 
7.8 On the field side of the metal security fence, close to point C, a series of four large 

plastic signs were erected in April 2015, presumably by the landowner. These face 
anyone using public footpath ZCK/6 and read as follows: 

 
“Attention Walkers and Dog Walkers Your Footpath is being Threatened” 
 
“50 people have signed a petition to change the designation of this footpath to a 
BRIDLEPATH claiming that they have been riding horses on this path to Ryeworth 
Road for DECADES” 
 
“What about HEALTH AND SAFETY?  There is not enough room for walkers, with 
or without dogs, to pass a large horse with safety.  There is a steep ditch on one 
side of the footpath!!!  When have you seen a horse rider dismount to collect up 
horse droppings?  The health and stench issues will be unbearable” 
 
“Lodge your protest against [application number, footpath designation, e-mail and 
and phone number of Modification Order Officer] 
Make your voice heard along with others.  Start a counter petition- Maintain this 
Peace and Tranquillity” 
 

7.7 A notice, in response to the above, was positioned on public footpath ZCK/6, 
between points C and D, close to the start of the metal security fencing.  
Accompanied by a map showing the claimed route, it reads: 

 
“Re: Bridleway Application- Dated March 2012 

Page 9



4 
 

The application is to replace the path- which a large number of us Dog Walkers 
used- destroyed along with the area which was full of wildlife and trees. 
 
I do not believe the notices were erected by Dog Walkers”  
 
Both sets of notices were still in position on 22 April 2015 and on 20 November 
2015.   
 

 

8. BACKGROUND 

8.1 The character of the way has changed markedly since the land was enclosed in 
around October 2011.  Aerial photographs of 2000 and 2006 show a clearly 
defined track leading through scrubland and trees, and this impression is borne 
out in photographs supplied by the applicant.   
 

8.2  In addition, photographs from Google Streetview show the entrance at the 
Greenway Lane end, for dates June 2009, August 2010, April 2011 and August 
2012.  All of these, with the exception of the August 2012 photograph show the 
claimed route open to the road, and do not show a fence against the road. 

 

8.3 The field crossed by the claimed route between points B and C is shown on the 
1923 map as allotments and open to the field on the south-west side that is 
currently used as allotments. The 1955 and 1972 plans also show the area as 
allotments, but separated by a boundary from the current allotments.  

 

 
9. APPLICATION 

9.1 An application was made by Jenny Hughes of Ham Stud, Ham Road, Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire and the Ham Stud Riders Group, dated 19 March 2012 and 
received 25 April 2012.  Notice was served on the affected landowners, Mrs 
Mitchell of Cedar House, Woodlands Farm, Puckham Woods, Whittington, 
Gloucestershire and Mr A J Potts, Clerk to the Charlton Kings Parish Council. 
 

9.2 The application was accompanied by 48 public path evidence forms, of which 29 
had used the path on horseback.  The forms are summarised at appendix 1C, 
and a bar chart showing length of usage is at appendix 1D. 
 

9.3 The application was not considered to be duly-made, as the notice served on the 
landowners and on the highway authority (forms 2 and 1) were not accompanied 
by maps showing the claimed route.  The applicant sent maps to both Mrs Mitchell 
and Mr Potts by recorded delivery on 22 June 2012.  The application date is taken 
to be 25 June 2012, when notice was given by the applicant to the County Council 
that maps had been sent to the affected landowners.    

 
9.4 The public path evidence forms were accompanied by maps at scale 1: 10,000, on 

which path users had marked the route that they had taken.  The scale of the 
maps does not allow the users to show accurately the exact route that they have 

Page 10



5 
 

used; however, aerial photographs and photographs supplied by the applicant 
indicate that a clearly defined route existed on the ground.   
 

9.5 The applicant wrote in support of her application:  “As you will see from the large 
number of evidence forms that have been collected the closing of this path has 
generated a great deal of local concern.  There is evidence that this land has been 
open and used by the public for over 50 years.  The result of it now being fenced 
off is that a large number of horse riders are now forced to navigate the traffic 
lights at Six Ways in order to complete the circuit from Ham around to Greenway 
Lane and into Battledown before getting back to Ham along Mill Lane.  This 
exposes everyone to extreme danger at this very busy junction. 

 
9.6 From Ryeworth Road it is completely impossible to turn into Greenway Lane 

without crossing to the other side of the junction and back again.  It is very difficult 
to ride along Greenway Lane and left into Ryeworth Road because the traffic lights 
are set back some distance from the junction and there is insufficient time to get 
through easily.  This section of road is very narrow and cars often pull up very 
close to the rear of the horses.  Some impatient drivers leave very little space and 
rev their engines as they move off behind the horses frustrated at not being able to 
get past.  The other difficulty is that drivers turning into Greenway Lane are not 
able to see the horses at the lights until the last possible moment and by that 
stage are going far too fast. 

 
9.7 This yard at Ham accommodates a number of riders who are affected and very 

concerned about this serious safety issue.  This is also true of The Wilson Racing 
Yard on Mill Lane and a large number of individuals.  I have six children riding out 
regularly from this yard at present.  Over the last 28 years my daughter and her 
friends have kept their horses here.  When she was a child of about 8 years old 5 
or 6 of her friends kept their ponies here at livery and were able to ride safely 
around the local lanes.  The closing of this path has made this much more difficult. 

 
9.8 There are also a number of walkers who have used this path over many decades 

who are now being prevented from doing so.  This path forms a safe route for 
pedestrians, or cyclists, who want to go from the Charlton Kings Cricket Club, St 
Edwards School or Battledown back into this part of Charlton Kings. 

 
9.9 I hope that by bringing this to your attention something can be done to re-open this 

necessary and much used pathway which has been open to the public for many 
years….”  

 
 

10. LANDOWNERS’ EVIDENCE 

Mrs Jacki Marshall  
Mr Neil Harvey of Keystone Law wrote on behalf of Mrs Marshall who is the 
landowner.  He made the following points:  
 
The location references here (A, B, C, D) are those on the Local Authority Plan 
number ZCK/46(6) dated 13/2/2015. Location reference ‘X’ is on the applicant’s 
plan undated as described below. 

Page 11



6 
 

 
This application relates to two distinct areas of land, as follows: – 

1) the upgrade of part of an existing footpath which commences at Ryeworth 
Road (point D on the plan) and ends at an entry point to the owners land 
(point C), & 

2) the creation of a new bridleway from the entry, point C, across the owners 
land to Greenway Lane at point A via point B. 

 
The owner’s submissions fall under the following headings: – 

1)  the application, 
2)  the documentary evidence, 
3)  the evidence contained on the "Public Path Evidence Form" 
4)  the owners evidence, 
5)  legal issues. 

 
10.1 The Application 

 
10.1.1 The nature of the application and the two differing aspects of land means that if 

the application to upgrade the footpath fails the application to create a bridleway 
must also fail - because any such bridleway would only run from A-C at which 
point there would be no further bridleway right across the land to point D or to use 
footpath ZCK 6. 
 

10.1.2 The applicant uses a map to the scale greater than is required in accordance 
with the legislation and thus the route claimed should be precisely identified.  
 

10.1.3 The entry point shown on the applicants map (X) does not correspond with the 
map produced in the same scale by the Local Authority dated 13th of February 
2015. The map dated 13 February 2015 shows the point of entry at "C" which is 
some 16.5 meters from the entry point shown by the applicant, point X. There is a 
requirement, referred to below for the map to be precise. 
 

10.1.4 The applicants application map is the plan dated March 2012 and signed by Sally 
Scanlan and dated 18 June 2012 being the Definitive Map Modification 
Application, the plan has no number. The map gives a clear requirement to 
"Please mark clearly the path that you wish to claim, sign and date the map". 
 

10.1.5 The applicant claims a line of path that is not consistent with the points D to C on 
plan ZCK/46(6). The applicant’s line of claimed bridleway leaves the existing 
footpath ZCK6 at the point where it crosses the boundary between the owner’s 
land and the adjoining allotments, point X. This is also the case on the applicant’s 
OS map extract - so not once but twice the starting point of the “path claimed” is 
shown in a different location to the Plan 13/2/2015.  One of the specific 
requirements of any claim is that it must precisely identify the route of the right of 
way that is claimed. The applicant’s plan and plan ZCK/46(6) illustrate the 
discrepancy by at least 16.5 meters. The requirement as specified in the Council 
letter and guidance is for “The precise route of the way”. The applicant’s route is 
not precise and the application should be rejected on that ground. Additionally it is 
not precise on the evidence - see 3 below. 

 

Page 12



7 
 

10.2 The Documentary Evidence 
 
10.2.1 The Council’s own investigations conclude that there is no documentary 

evidence relating to the route claimed A, B, C. The mention made in the report 
commissioned by the Council refers only to the Ordnance Survey map showing 
two double-pecked lines which do not form a path, and is not marked as footpath 
and have no bearing whatsoever to the claimed route A, B, C. 

 
10.2.2 It should also be noted that the slender strip of land to the south of the most 

southerly end of the allotments, and to the north north east of the parcel of land 
identified as "Allotment Gardens” (and which is not shown in the Land Registry as 
being in the ownership of the Local Council) as part of the allotments does not 
show a line either solid or dotted as a continuation of the footpath currently 
designated as the footpath ZCK 6. 

 
10.3 The evidence contained on the "Public Path Evidence Forms". 
 
10.3.1   First point to make is that the applicant’s application has been stated on the 

basis of, and submitted in her role at, the Ham Stud. This is evident because most 
of the forms completed by ‘witnesses’ contain at the top the instruction "please 
return to Bev at Ham Stud”. In addition many of the forms contain, marked in 
manuscript, the instruction "please mark line of path claimed on the map”. This is 
clearly an organised application in the nature of guidance from the British Horse 
Society by those with a vested interest in using an existing footpath as a 
bridleway, and seeking to legalise their trespass on horseback over private 
property to claim a bridleway.  

 
In that context many of the forms of evidence suggest there is a requirement for 
the upgrading of a footpath and new bridleway because the route that otherwise 
has to be taken namely "down to the main London Road, which is very dangerous” 
whilst on horseback. This evidence of the apparent reason for use of a route is 
irrelevant to the existence of a right. 

 
10.3.2  Of the 48 forms submitted 35 of the potential witnesses failed to record any 

recognition of the gate that exists at point D despite being specifically asked about 
gates on the route claimed in the application evidence form. That clearly calls into 
question the credibility and the accuracy of the witness statements. 

 
10.3.3  Of the 48 forms submitted in support of the application a total of 31 potential 

witnesses produce no evidence whatsoever in relation to the land between points 
D to C on the map dated ZCK/46(6) dated 13 Feb 2015.  

 
10.3.4  Only one witness claiming to have used the access A to D since 1960 records 

the gate that is at the Greenway Lane end, point A.  There has however always 
been a gate marking the delineation of the boundary at point A. That demonstrates 
incredible lack of observation by the applicant’s witnesses or a deliberate bias in 
the failure to mention the gate. 

 
10.3.5  A detailed examination of the potential witnesses reveals the divergence of the 

route claimed to be used of the owner’s land. Some show a route starting at C 

Page 13



8 
 

some show starting at X - the points are 16.5 meters apart at least.  The 
applicant’s route differs from the route in the council plan. This is not precise or 
accurate evidence of land use. 

 
10.3.6  One potential witness (witness no.2) identifies the wrong land completely.  
 
10.3.7  Potential witnesses nos.3, 6, 9, 12, 31, 35, 37, 39, show a route that is different 

from the applicant’s claimed route. These deviations of the claimed route again 
cast doubt on the accuracy and reliability of the evidence. 

 
10.3.8  Two potential witnesses (no.36 and no.43) do not exhibit a map so their 

evidence cannot rightly be said to relate to the claimed footpath or bridleway.  
 
10.3.9  As well as discounting the witness evidence where it relates to the incorrect 

land, wrong route and deviations on the route, one then has to assess the differing 
claims to have used the route A-D. Only 21 people claim to have used the owner’s 
land exclusively as a bridleway (witnesses 1-21) and only 7 claim to have used the 
owner’s land for a period of over 20 years and of those 7 witnesses no.3 and no.6 
show a different route, so in total only 5 witnesses claim to have used the land for 
over 20 years on horseback on the route claimed. 

 
10.3.10  Note that some of the horseback riders claim the route used is between 2-3 

feet wide. Clearly this is not sufficient for use as a bridleway and again calls into 
question the credibility of the witnesses - all of whom should be subject to 
questioning. 

  
USERS 1-21 USE AS HORSE RIDERS. 
USERS 22-29 CLAIM USE ON HORSE AND WALKING. 
USERS 30-48 CLAIM USE AS WALKERS.. 
Witness  Period (Years) Use PER YEAR (approx) 
1 9 40 
2 3 12 
3 28 ‘nearly’ ea (working) day 
4 1 100 
5 6 6 
6 21 100 
7 36 52 
8 11 150 
9 1 4 or 6 
10 15 100 
11 17 52 
12 6 2 
13 25 150 
14 4 6 to 12 
15 22 100 
16 8 100 
17 16 10 
18 36 ‘lots’ 
19 36 50 
20 20 52 

Page 14



9 
 

21 10 150 
22 24 60 
23 27 50 
24  14  250 
25 3  52 
26 24   150 
27 4   15 to 20 
28 12   50 
29 35   50 
30 6   5 or 6 
31 10   50 
32 22   few 
33 34   50? 
34 18   12 
35 9   20 
36  38   most weeks 
37  32   most days 
38  33   several 
39  10   20 
40  none 
41  50   5 or 6 
42  48   lots 
43  25   frequently 
44  20   up to 6 
45  21   500 
46  18   daily 
47  16   25 
48  10   everyday 
   

10.3.11  Analysis of the forms identifies omissions, lack of clarity, inconsistencies and 
collusion.  Certain Forms should be rejected (e.g. wrong land, no clear description 
of the way or of how it was being used, statements inconsistent with use (2-3 ft 
wide for a horse) and all of which issues the owner shall raise if this reaches the 
stage on an inquiry. 

 
10.3.12  The submitted forms have not been completed with due diligence, questions 

have not been answered as accurately and as fully as they should have been to 
seek to amend the Definitive Map. There are questions which, from the claimed 
duration and extent of use, appear capable of being answered yet are not, (e.g. 
evidence of gate and fence and width) it is reasonable to assume that the 
witness’s recall was insufficient to provide this information making the evidence 
questionable as to whether the claimed use is accurately recalled as stated. The 
value of the forms evidence should be weighed accordingly. The majority of the 
form evidence will be challenged as to its accurately and honesty. 

 
10.3.13  Further, as a consequence of the collusion it is not the public that have claimed 

to use this route A-C for over 20 years on horseback but a section of the public 
being the Ham Stud stable yard members. In that context of the quality of the 
alleged evidence, that selection of people is insufficient to amount to a user 
establishing any right. 

Page 15



10 
 

 
10.4  The owner’s evidence 
 
10.4.1 The owner has the following note: It does appear that there is some confusion 

amongst those claiming to have walked across my land, particularly as to the 
precise route they claim to have taken, and some of whom claim to have done so 
going back a considerable number of years. When we (my late husband and I) first 
acquired the land it was used as allotments. One of the maps the council produce 
in relation to this application shows it as allotments. The route taken by walkers 
from Ryeworth Road to Greenway Lane was through the allotments but not 
through our land which was allotments.  The Ordnance Survey map SO 9621-
9721 shows the route which is marked as a track (“TK”) which was used.  When 
our land was no longer allotments, the only allotments site was the current area of 
land that is used as allotments, and that track remained in use, and there was no 
fencing at the southern end of the allotments preventing any access onto ZCK 6.  
People continued to walk through the allotment site, they were not using our land.  
The allotment site changed I think in the late 1980’s early 90’s but I am checking 
that. 

 
10.4.2  At the Greenway Lane end of my land there was always a fence of barbed wire 

and stakes of some sort as this had been used for decades along that side of the 
land boundary coupled with hedging and the natural ditch which joins the ditch 
further up the gradient and running down Greenway Lane. There is a natural ditch 
boundary and a fence. There were many occasions over the years where either 
my husband or I would be fixing up the fence where people had pushed it over and 
we had tried to reinstate it. It was a more or less constant interruption on our part 
as best we could and at the same time trying to reinstate the fencing with people 
disregarding what was there. Any person trying to use the land should have been 
able to establish this was private land from our actions. 

 
10.5 The legal issues 
 
10.5.1  Subject to any specified width in the Definitive Map Statement of the footpath 

ZCK46 (which we have as yet been unable to establish but see comment below) 
the minimum width for a footpath is 1.5m, the minimum width for a bridleway is 
2.5m that width is to account for vegetation but any cross field bridlepath must be 
a minimum of 2m wide. 

 
The gate at point D is just 1.5m wide, it follows that the route C-D cannot properly 
be designated as a bridleway as it does not meet the required width.  

 
Further the width of the route C-D as a footpath should be at least 1.5m wide and 
preferably wider because the footpath to the right hand side when walking from D 
to C has a vertical drop. That this path is not 1.5m wide is evidenced by the 
applicant’s own photographs - see photo B3 which shows a dog nose to tail 
extending the footpath width and being unable to fully stand across the footpath 
width because of the fencing and vegetation. The photographs attached submitted 
by the owner are evidence that the existing footpath ZCK46 is barely 1m wide and 
in places in considerably less in some and shows the steep fall away at one side. 
These three photographs were taken on 31/3/2015 between the point on ZCK46 

Page 16



11 
 

where it passes the allotment boundary line and point C. It follows that even if the 
restrictive width gap created by the gate could be overcome, (and in out 
submission it cannot and as such goes against the establishment of a bridleway) 
the footpath ZCK46 is not wide enough to be a bridleway. 
 
The dimensions for minimum widths quoted above are as required and 
recommended in the Countryside Service Design Standards (2013) comprising the 
legal and best practice position. Clearly there is a potential danger to health and 
safety of users if a route which barely wide enough for use by walkers as a 
footpath is to be used also by riders on horses. The statutory provisions further 
support the owner’s submissions and are set out in the Highways Act.  The 
legislation in question is the Highways Act 1980, Schedule 12A. The wording is as 
follows: 

  
“(1) For the purposes of this Schedule the “minimum width” and “maximum width” 

of a highway shall be determined in accordance with sub-paragraphs (2) and 
(3) below.. 

(2)  In any case where the width of the highway is proved, that width is both the 
“minimum width” and the “maximum width”.. 

(3) In any other case. 
(a) the “minimum width” is—. 

(i)  as respects a footpath which is not a field-edge path, 1 metre, 
(ii)  as respects a footpath which is a field-edge path, 1.5 metres,. 
(iii)  as respects a bridleway which is not a field-edge path, 2 metres, or. 
(iv)  as respects any other highway, 3 metres; and. 

(b) the “maximum width” is—. 
(i)  as respects a footpath, 1.8 metres,. 
(ii)  as respects a bridleway, 3 metres, or. 
(iii)  as respects any other highway, 5 metres.” 

  
In the owner’s submission therefore the gap at D and the width of the existing 
footpath ZCK prevent the footpath from being upgraded to a bridleway because it 
must be 2m at a minimum and preferably 3m given its location.  
 
If route C-D cannot be made a bridleway for that reason (or for any other), there is 
no route as a bridleway from C-A and the applicant’s application must fail. That 
physical features can be determinative of whether a right is capable of existing in 
any particular route has authority in the decision Sherringham UDC v Holsey 1904 
[sic]. 

 
10.5.2  The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 s.66 defines “footpath”  as “a highway 

over which the public have a right of way on foot only, other than such a highway 
at the side of a public road”; and “bridleway” means “a highway over which the 
public have the following, but no other, rights of way, that is to say, a right of way 
on foot and a right of way on horseback or leading a horse, with or without a right 
to drive animals of any description along the highway”. 

 
It follows that on the basis of the route claimed by the applicant she and other 
alleged horse-riding users must have been using route D-C contrary to its legally 
permitted use, and arguably creating a dangerous situation because it does not 

Page 17



12 
 

meet the statutory width requirements.  Its legally permitted use is as a footpath. 
The applicant should not be entitled to benefit from her own wrong-doing. 
 
In summary, there is insufficient evidence to establish the nature and extent of the 
claimed use, and the documentary evidence flatly contradicts such a use, so on 
that basis the claim should fail but without prejudice to that contention in any event 
there is evidence of a lack of intention to ever dedicate a public right of way. 
 
 
Charlton Kings Parish Council  
The Parish Council made the following comments by letter dated 16 July 2014: 
“…Charlton Kings Parish Council has two interests in this application; 

 As the Parish Council for the area in which the affected land is situated 

 As owners of the land between points B and C on the map attached to the 
letter of consultation. 

 
We note that the legislation does not allow factors other than whether the claimed 
rights do or do not exist, to be considered.  However, we wish to take this 
immediate opportunity to draw to the County Council’s attention, that in the event 
of the claimed rights being determined to exist, significant remedial work would be 
required to up-grade the public footpath along the length B to C [C to D on map B] 
and that we would expect the County Council, as Highways Authority, to 
undertake such works as were considered necessary to allow the safe passage of 
both pedestrian and riders together along this narrow section of track; and to make 
safe access for horse riders onto Ryeworth Road by providing a gate that could be 
opened by riders on horseback.   
 
In respect of evidence of past usage, we submit that:-  

 The Parish Council has no documentary evidence of a right of way along 
the claimed length. 

 The land over which the route A to B passes [A to C on map at appendix B], 
lies adjacent to the Parish Council’s Ryeworth allotment site.  Both officers 
and Members of the Parish Council have in recent years until the land was 
fenced off, seen walkers, particularly those walking dogs, and horse riders, 
use this route; although we would not be able to confirm or refute a more 
historic usage. 

 We also confirm that, in the same way, horse riders have used the route B 
to C [C to D on map at appendix B], despite its status as a public footpath 
only. 

 We are not aware of any vehicular usage of either route….”   
 

 
11 DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 

 The following sources have been examined by the County Archivist at 
Gloucestershire Archives to see whether this path is marked in any way and to 
establish its status.  The sources have then been checked by the Asset Data 
(PROW Definitive Map) Officer in the Definitive Map Unit. 

 
11.1 Inclosure Award 

Page 18



13 
 

There is no Inclosure Award for the area in question. 
 
11.2 Tithe Map, 1844 (GDR/T1/49) 

The map is damaged in the area of the claimed route; however there is no 
indication of the claimed route on the map.  

 
11.3 Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile, 1888 edition, sheet no. Glos 26.12 

The claimed new bridleway marked A-B-C is not shown. Public footpath ZCK 6 
marked C-D is shown as a physical feature by pecked lines on the side of the 
open field, with a physical boundary against the wall to its south. The map 
suggests that the continuation of the route running north-east is a ‘F.P’. The 
footpath at the bottom of the field is shown open to the field. 

 
11.4  Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile, 2nd edition map, 1902, sheet number Glos 

26.12 
 Claimed route not shown between points A and C.  Entrance to field from 

Greenway Lane is shown, with a boundary feature at point B.  Present footpath 
ZCK/6 is shown running along the southern boundary of plot 220 by a pecked and 
a solid line and marked “F.P.”.  

 
11.5 Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile, 3rd edition map, 1923, sheet no: 26/12 

Section of claimed route A to B shown as present, with solid boundary at point B.  
Whole of field is shown open to present allotments on the southern side and 
marked “Allotment Gardens”.  Present footpath ZCK/6 is shown open to the 
enlarged field, and is marked by a solid and a pecked line and labelled “F.P.”.  

 
11.6 Ordnance Survey 1:2,500 map National Grid SO 9621-9721 (1955) 

Field over which the claimed path runs is shown separated from the present 
allotments by a boundary feature. Both plots are annotated “Allotment gardens”.  
No boundary feature is shown at point B.  Present public footpath ZCK 6 is shown 
partially by double-pecked lines and partially by two full lines and labelled “F.P.” 

 
11.7  Ordnance Survey 1: 2,500 map SO 9621-9721 (1972)  
         Section between points A and B is shown by pecked lines within the field 

boundary.  The area around the pond is shown open to the present cricket pitch 
which is labelled “Playing Field”.  The field over which the claimed path runs is 
shown separated from the present allotments.  Both fields are labelled “Allotment 
Gardens”. Present footpath ZCK/6 (C to D) is shown by a mixture of solid and 
pecked lines and labelled “Path”.   

 
 11.6 Ordnance Survey 1” to 1 mile map, 1st edition, surveyed 1817  

The area of interest is not shown in detail. 
 
11.7 Bryant, Map of Gloucestershire, 1824 

The claimed route is not shown.  
 

11.8 Inland Revenue, maps compiled under the Finance Act, 1910, based on 
Ordnance Survey 25”: 1 mile, c.1902 edition, marked up by Inland Revenue 
c. 1915, and reference books or files (D2428) 

Page 19



14 
 

D2428/3/26/12 – The claimed bridleway marked A-B-C is not shown on the map, 
but would run through a hereditament which is coloured but not numbered (the 
shading of the colouring is slightly different to neighbouring hereditament 118). 
Public footpath ZCK 6 marked C-D is shown running through hereditament 118.  
D2428/2/38 – Form 37 makes no reduction for Right of Way or User. 

 
11.9 Maps deposited with County Planning Officer under Rights of Way Act, 1932 

S1, 3 (CP/D) 
Nothing appears relevant. 

 
11.10 Private estate maps 

None appear relevant. 
 
11.11 County Council Solicitor’s correspondence 

Nothing appears relevant.  
 
11.12 County Surveyor: papers relating to survey of footpaths under National 

Parks and Access to Countryside Act, 1949 (K687) 
Original submission (K687/1/1) 
The route marked A-B-C is not claimed. Public footpath ZCK 6 marked C-D is 
shown as part of the route numbered 9.  It is described as a footpath on the 
accompanying schedule. 
Draft and Modified Draft map 
Public footpath ZCK/6 (C to D) is shown by a purple line, indicating a public 
footpath 
Provisional map and schedule (K687/3/1 & 3/24) 
The route marked A-B-C is not claimed.  Public footpath ZCK 6 marked C-D is 
numbered 6. The schedule describes it as a public footpath.  
Definitive Map 
The claimed bridleway marked A-B-C is not marked as a public right of way. Public 
footpath ZCK 6 marked C-D is shown by a purple line in a manner consistent with 
other known public footpaths in the area and marked 6. 
Definitive Statement 
ZCK 6 is described as a footpath. 

 
  
12.   CONSULTATIONS  
 
12.1 Charlton Kings Parish Council  

The Clerk of Charlton Kings Parish Council replied by letter dated 16 July 2014.  
As the Parish Council are the owners of part of the land affected by the 
application, then their comments are included in section 10 of the report.  

  
12.2 Cheltenham Borough Council 

Chris Finch, Senior Estates Surveyor, replied by e-mail dated 17 February 2015:  
“Cheltenham Borough Council no longer own any land in this area.  It used to own 
land where route C-D is proposed, but the land was sold some time ago.”    

 
12.3 County Councillor 

Page 20



15 
 

Councillor Paul McLain was consulted on 11 June 2014; no response has been 
received. 

 
12.4 Ramblers’ Association 

Doug Houston, Mid Gloucestershire Area Footpath Secretary of the Ramblers’ 
Association was consulted on 16 February 2015.  No response has been received.  

 
12.5 British Horse Society  

Lois Eyre, County Access and Bridleways Officer for the British Horse Society, 
replied by e-mail dated 18 February 2015:  “…In my view, there is a very strong 
claim, based on considerable user evidence.  Additionally, the upgrade and new 
length of bridleway would add considerably to local equestrian access, and obviate 
any need for a potentially dangerous negotiation of the traffic lights at the Sixways 
junction.  Set against this, the objections that I have heard, from some who wish to 
contest the upgrade of the footpath on the grounds of perceived risk to allotment 
holders, over a very short length of path appear negligible”.    

 
12.6 Cyclists’ Touring Club (CTC)  

John Mallows replied on behalf of the CTC by e-mail dated 17 February 2015:  “…I 
did visit the site last Summer, and concluded that it’s not ideal for regular cycling; 
keen off-road / club riders don’t use this kind of track, and as a more everyday 
cycling cut-through the existing section of path (D to C) at the Ryeworth end is a 
bit lumpy…. When I…cycled the proposed route I noticed the small stables at the 
Greenway Lane end, prompting me to assume that the applicants are horse riders 
and that the case will be determined on their evidence.  As cyclists we’d have no 
objection: an extra bit of legally cyclable track is always handy…” 

 
12.7 Cheltenham and County Cycling Club 

Jeff Kapp of the Cheltenham and County Cycling Club was consulted on 16 
February 2015.  No response was received.  

 
 
13. APPLICANT  

 
The applicant was sent a copy of the landowners’ comments on 23 July 2015.   
 
Sally Scanlon and Jenny Hughes responded: 
“Thank you for sending us the recent paperwork about this application.  I attach 
the comments we have received from Mr and Mrs Humphries, who have lived in 
the area for over 30 years.  The path that they are talking about in paragraph one 
is referring to point C on the map. 
 
There was no gate or fence along this landline on Greenway Lane until the whole 
plot was fenced off.  This path had a clear exit point although the land on either 
side was open to horse riders, pedestrians and cyclists.  The pond, which we think 
is an ancient dew pond was cleared by the children of Glenfall School and turned 
into a nature pond. 
 
The track to point C varied in width with trees and undergrowth on both sides.  
Although the land on both sides was open and unfenced, riders would keep to the 

Page 21



16 
 

track to avoid injury to horses from dangerous items which may have been hidden 
e.g. glass, cans etc.  At point C there was a wide open section with pedestrians 
able to turn left or right.  Horses could only turn right along the edge of the 
allotments to the Ryeworth Road exit.   
 
The central part of the track is not as wide as the available path through the open 
wasteland but there is ample room for horses.  On either side of the earth and 
tarmac section there is a fairly wide margin of grass.  In our experience there was 
never a problem with horseriders and pedestrians navigating this section safely.  
Pedestrians and riders could see each other and would wait for the one who had 
made the most progress to complete the section. 
 
The gate has in recent times been the one that is there now.  It is a small garden 
gate with a latch.  The section between the bin has a down bolt which means that 
this could be opened to make the access wider.  We have never had to do this as 
there is enough room for a horse to go through the one gate. 
 
In the past, before the allotment fence was constructed with a separate gate, this 
access onto Ryeworth Road was the only gate to get into the allotments. 
 
As far as we are aware, there has never been a challenge to anyone using this 
footpath or bridlepath.  There has never been any broken fencing which has been 
repaired on the Greenway Lane end.   
 
Looking at the map there seems to be a boundary line running between the 
bridlepath and the pond.  In the last 20 years or more, there has not been a fence 
separating the pond from the rest of the land.  The section on the cricket club side 
was open from the allotment fence.” 
 
Comments from Gary and Ann Humphries, Wadleys, Ham Lane, 10 August 
2015 
“There was not a single exit on the path, the horses went right and back down 
Ryeworth Road, and walkers went left along ZCK 6.  The metal fence has made 
the path much narrower.  There was no kissing gate, the gap was open. 
 
The gate was often open, I recollect horses just riding in off the road and onto the 
path.  For many years there was no gate at the Greenway Road end, cars could 
get in.  What about the Glenfall School nature reserve?  It was all open.  The gate 
only appeared in the past few years.   
 
The two girls on our ponies knew the path from 1986 on as a bridle path.  Just 
past point B was a big patch of brambles, and the path split in two, the right hand 
one was by the allotment fence and the left hand one swung away from the 
allotments.  After the brambles, halfway between B and C was open land, very 
sandy, children built dens here and the bridle path wend down the middle.  It was 
easily wide enough for horses, it was only constricted in the bramble patch but still 
passable. 
 
Our two ponies used this path, and also Mary Musgrove and also Jill Fletcher and 
people from stables on Ham Hill (Hayley, Jane Madison (20 years), Mary Cole)”   

Page 22



17 
 

 
 
14.   OTHER OBSERVATIONS  
  In response to the signs erected at point C in April 2015, the following made 

comment: 
 
14.1 Graham Manders, 11 Ham Close, Charlton Kings  

Mr Manders made the following points in an e-mail dated 21 April 2015: 
1. He was concerned about use of the path by horse riders affecting the safety of 

walkers;  
2. The path was too narrow for horse riders, and there is a steep bank down 

towards the brook; 
3. Use by horses would conflict with dogs that are let off their lead by owners while 

walking the public footpath; 
4. It would be difficult for horse riders and walkers to see each other when setting 

out to use the path; 
5. There are already two existing ‘byways’ between Greenway Lane and Ryeworth 

Road; 
6. Horse droppings would be an unpleasant proposition for walkers   

 
14.2 Rachel Jardine, 8 Cirencester Road, Cheltenham  

 Wrote on 20 April 2015 to express her opposition to the public footpath becoming 
a bridleway as it would be unsafe.  She adds “I have lived in this area for over 30 
years and have never been aware of a bridleway here.” 

 
14.3  Richard Jardine, Charlton Kings  
  He wrote on 20 April 2015 to make the following points: 

1. The path is too narrow and there is a steep slope meaning that there is no 
passing place for pedestrians; 

2. Horses’ hooves would dig up the soft path as they have in the nearby field 
making it impassable in winter and wet weather; 

3. Becoming a bridleway would be an invitation to mountain bikers to cause 
further damage and conflict with walkers; 

4. I have used this path for over 20 years and cannot remember it being used by 
horse riders or cyclists and certainly not since the kissing gate was installed 
[note- this is not on the claimed route]. 

5. Access would not provide a link between existing bridleway tracks- at one end 
is Ryeworth Road, a narrow busy road and at the other end is a footpath [the 
claimed route runs between two roads]  

 
14.4 Mr Hart, Charlton Kings  

He wrote on 26 April 2015:  
“Someone has erected signs adjacent to this stretch of path that state that local 
horse riders have claimed to have used this part of the footpath for “decades” and 
now seek for it to be converted into a bridleway.  I can only assume that there is 
some confusion over this.  My wife and I have used that path hundreds of times 
and never seen a horse on it or evidence of horses using it….[and] there is a 
kissing gate that no horse could navigate…” [this is not on the claimed route].  He 
raised further points about safety and suitability.  

 

Page 23



18 
 

14.5  John Crocker, 17 Lyefield Road East, Charlton Kings  
 He wrote to object to object to the proposed modification on 29 June 2015, 

claiming that he had walked the path on a weekly basis for the last seven years at 
he had not seen the path used by horse riders or any evidence, in the way of hoof-
prints or droppings to show that horses had used the path.  “The reasons for 
horses not using this route are that there are two steel kissing gates between 
Ryeworth Road and Greenway Lane [neither are on the claimed route] and the 
path is very narrow from Ryeworth Road to the point where the allotment fence 
ends and it falls away steeply on the right hand side down to the stream…”  

 
The following wrote to clarify their use of the path: 
   
14.6 Alan Jennings, 11 Waterside Close, Andoversford 

Mr Jennings wrote on 11 November 2015: 
“The scrub land…was originally allotments to the east of the still existing council 
allotments and divided from said allotments by a mature hedge.  The scrubland 
allotments had a path through the middle with allotments either side of it roughly 
equidistant between the boundary hedge I have described and the eastern 
boundary with the large field immediately to the south of the cricket ground.  I can 
therefore confirm that the footpath which was used by both allotment holders and 
the general public alike was through the centre of the current scrubland.  The said 
footpath was narrow at its northern end for a distance of somewhere between 60 
and 80 yards with a hedge either side.”  
 

 
15.   LEGAL COMMENTS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
15.1 Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 allows for ways 

presently shown on the Definitive Map and Statement as a footpath, but which 
enjoy a right to lead or ride a horse, to be upgraded to a bridleway. 

 
15.2 Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 states that where a way over any land, 

other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise at 
common law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the 
public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is 
deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence 
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.  Section 31(2) states 
that the period of 20 years in sub-section (1) is to be calculated retrospectively 
from the date when the right of the public is brought into question whether by a 
notice or otherwise.  The twenty years usage must furthermore be “without 
interruption” and the requirements of Section 31 will not be met if “there is 
sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it”.  

 
15.3 Before making an order, the surveying authority must be satisfied that the 

evidence discovered by the Council, when considered with all other relevant 
evidence available, shows that, on the balance of probabilities, the Definitive Map 
and Statement require modification because a right of way which is not shown on 
the Map and Statement subsists, or is reasonably alleged to subsist.   

 

Page 24



19 
 

15.4 Section 31(9) of the Highways Act 1980 says that nothing in this section operates 
to prevent the dedication of a way as a highway being presumed on proof of user 
for any less period than 20 years.  If there is no presumption of dedication under 
Section 31 of the 1980 Act, then we will also consider whether the evidence is 
such as to establish, again on a balance of probabilities, dedication at Common 
Law.   

 
15.5 We need to consider whether there has been a full 20 years use by the public of 

section A to D and, in order to do this, we have to ascertain whether there has 
been an overt act on the part of the landowner to bring it home to users that their 
right is being challenged. The 20 years use, for the purposes of Section 31, is to 
be dated retrospectively from this date of challenge (s.31(2)).  

 
15.6 There is no fixed method by which the public’s right is brought into question, 

though one (the erection of a notice) is expressly referred to in Section 31(3). The 
House of Lords in R (on the application of Godmanchester and Drain) v SSEFRA 
[2007] is the most recent case addressing the meaning of s.31(2) as to what act or 
acts constitute “bringing into question”.  Godmanchester endorses earlier 
judgments in this regard.   

 
15.7 The words “or otherwise” in Section 31 (2) leave the matter at large. In R v SSETR 

ex parte Dorset County Council (1999) Dyson J stated that the challenge had to be 
communicated to the user and that the test to be applied is that set out by Lord 
Denning in Fairey v Southampton CC (1956). Denning said “In order for the right 
of the public to have been brought into question, the landowner must challenge it 
by some means sufficient to bring it home to the public that he is challenging their 
right to use the way, so that they may be apprised of the challenge and have a 
reasonable opportunity of meeting it”.  

 

15.8 The methods by which the public’s right to use the way might be brought into 
question could include: the locking of a gate; putting up a notice denying the 
existence of a right of way; seeking a declaration that there is no highway over the 
land in question or physically preventing a walker from proceeding along a path. 
Whatever means are employed, it should be sufficient “to make it likely that some 
of the users are made aware that the owner has challenged their right to use the 
way as a highway... The persons to whom the challenge has to be brought home 
are the users of the way”. (Lord Dyson in R v Secretary of State for the 
Environment, Transport and the Regions ex parte Dorset CC (1999). 

 
15.9 It is considered that the erection of metal security fencing which blocked off access 

to the path at point C and the erection of wooden post and rail fencing and a 
padlocked farm gate at point A to exclude the public from the land represents the 
act that brought the right of the public to use the way into question.   

 
15.10 If we take the date of challenge as 2011, then the relevant period for the purpose 

of section 31(1) of the 1980 Highways Act is 1991 to 2011.  It is not essential for 
the path or way to have been used for the full period of 20 years by the same 
persons; use by different persons, each for periods of less than 20 years, will 
suffice if, taken together, they total a continuous period of 20 years or more (Davis 

Page 25



20 
 

v Whitby (1974)).  Nor does it matter that the use is not continuous in the sense 
that it may not have occurred everyday.   

 
15.11 Section 31 (2) of the Highways Act states that the 20 years use must be without 

interruption. An “interruption” has been defined as “an actual and physical stopping 
of the public’s enjoyment” (Merstham Manor Ltd v Coulsdon and Purley UDC 
(1937) 2KB 77) as opposed to an act that merely challenges the public’s right. It is 
not a mere absence in the continuity of use. Moreover, such interruption must be 
with the intention to prevent public use.  None of the witnesses note any such 
obstructions on the claimed bridleway.     

 
15.12 The judgment R (on the application of Godmanchester Town Council) v S of S for 

Environment, Food and Rural Affairs; R (on the application of Drain) v S of S for 
EFRA, 2007 affirms that it is not the case that any evidence of a lack of intention to 
dedicate is sufficient; there has to be an overt act or acts on the part of the 
landowner to show the public at large that he has no intention to dedicate. 

 
15.13 The presumption is that the way has been dedicated through long user by the 

public, unless the landowner can demonstrate sufficient evidence of a lack of 
intention to dedicate (through overt acts directed at the path users) 

 
15.14 Evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate might include the direct challenging of 

path users, the locking of gates (provided that this was with a view to preventing 
public use rather than for example, for stock control) or the erection of suitably 
worded signs.  No evidence has either been provided or discovered that (prior to 
2011) the landowners have taken any action that either brought into question the 
right of the public to use the paths or showed that they did not intend to dedicate 
the claimed paths to the public. 

 
15.15 For long usage to give rise to a presumption of dedication, use must be without 

force, secrecy or permission.  The evidence from the witnesses and from 
photographs is that the path was open to the road at point A, and that there was 
an open access to the public footpath ZCK/6 at point C during the relevant twenty 
year period, and that entry was not with force.  There is no indication that use of 
the claimed route was with the permission of the landowner.  

 
15.16 The landowner states (at 10.4.2) “At the Greenway Lane end of my land there 

was always a fence of barbed wire and stakes of some sort as this had been used 
for decades along that side of the land boundary coupled with hedging and the 
natural ditch which joins the ditch further up the gradient and running down 
Greenway Lane…. There were many occasions over the years where either my 
husband or I would be fixing up the fence where people had pushed it over and we 
had tried to reinstate it.  It was a more or less constant interruption on our part as 
best we could and at the same time trying to reinstate the fencing with people 
disregarding what was there”.  It is further noted (in 10.3.4) that “there has 
however always been a gate marking the delineation of the boundary at point A.  
That demonstrates incredible lack of observation by the applicant’s witnesses or a 
deliberate bias in the failure to mention the gate”.  The witnesses do not refer to 
barbed wire and stakes or removing fences to gain entry.  The Google Street View 

Page 26



21 
 

photographs taken in June 2009, August 2010 and April 2011 do not show either a 
gate or a fence at point A.  

 
15.17 Under Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, when determining whether a way 

has or has not been dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such 
dedication, if any, took place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or history 
of the locality or other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, and shall 
give such weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified in the 
circumstances, including the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of the 
person by whom and the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and the 
custody in which it has been kept and from which it is produced.   

 
15.18 No documentary evidence has been found that section A to C carries a bridleway 

right or that the footpath which forms part of the claimed route between C and D 
carries a higher right than that of public footpath.   

 
15.19 In support of the application, 48 public path evidence forms have been completed 

by 51 named individuals, alleging use of the claimed route either on horseback or 
on foot.  The use is summarised at appendix C and a chart showing length of use 
is at appendix D.  30 of the 51 claim to have used the way on horseback.  Use on 
horseback dates back to 1975, with three witnesses (Debbie Hardiman, Susan 
Smith and Kathryn Warmisham) evidencing use since that time.  Use on foot dates 
back to 1945 (Bernard Lawrence) and other witnesses have used the claimed 
route on foot since 1960 (Alan Jennings and Mr Peacey).   

 
15.20 There are eight horse riders who have used the claimed route throughout the 

whole of the 20 year period (Bev Clapham, Fiona Hall, Debbie Hardiman, Emma 
Martin, Rachel Robbins, Susan Smith, Kathryn Warmisham and Fiona Wilson).   

 
15.21 The landowner’s solicitor has raised a number of points relating to the evidence 

that are set out in section 10 of the report.  They may be summarised as follows: 
1. The maps supplied by the applicant and the local authority are at variance 

and that this invalidates the claim; 
2. The routes used by the witnesses are not consistent 
3. The witnesses have colluded in their evidence 
4. Use by horses over private property or a footpath is not legal and cannot 

establish a right 
5. Questioning the validity and accuracy of the witnesses 
6. Use was by Ham Stud stable yard members rather than the public  
7. The claimed path does not meet standards of minimum widths  
8. Physical characteristics of the route preclude it becoming a bridleway as 

that would create a conflict with walkers (citing Sheringham UDC v Halsey 
1904) 
 

15.22 The map supplied by the applicant, for which see appendix E, shows the path 
running across the landowner’s field and then joining public footpath ZCK/6 in the 
south-western corner of the field.  It is at 1 to 1,250 scale, or approximately 50 
inches to 1 mile.  It is irrelevant to the application if the County Council 
subsequently sends out maps (not produced by the applicant) that show the path 

Page 27



22 
 

joining footpath ZCK/6 at a point 16.5 metres away from that shown by the 
applicant. 
 

15.23 The maps accompanying the witness evidence forms were provided by the 
applicant and are 1: 10,000 scale, or approximately 6 inches to the mile.  A one 
millimetre thickness line drawn on a map of that scale represents 10 metres on the 
ground, so 16.5 metres difference is 1.65 mm on the map.   

 
15.24 The maps provided by the applicant and completed by the witnesses are mostly 

consistent in showing a route running from Greenway Lane at point A, along a 
track to point B and then over the field in question to join public footpath ZCK/6 
and then running along the footpath ZCK/6 to join Ryeworth Road at point D.    
Completing an evidence form is not a test of cartographic competence, or 
surveying skills, bearing in mind that the surface features between points B and C 
had been obliterated in 2011.   
 
The following witnesses do not show the claimed route: 
Dee Merrick (horse, 6 years) shows route running through the allotments  
Sue Hughes shows the route running through the allotments  
Alan Jennings (foot, 10 years) shows the route running along the hedge 
David Pugh (foot, 25 years) has not marked a map  
Susan Heseltine (foot, 38 years) does not mark a map (although her husband 
does, showing the claimed route)  
Christine Burnett (horse, 3 years) shows the route running through the allotments  
Sue Guildford (foot, 9 years) shows the route running along the hedge 
 
It should be noted that it is not essential that a map is completed to show the path 
used by a witness, and also that Alan Jennings has subsequently clarified that the 
path ran roughly down the centre of the field.  Even if we were to discount these 
evidence forms, we are still left with 44 witnesses alleging use of the claimed way 
on foot or on horseback.  
 

15.25 The landowner states that the forms show “omissions, lack of clarity, 
inconsistencies and collusion”.  Any inconsistencies in evidence are possibly an 
indication that the forms and maps have been completed independently, and 
perhaps argue against collusion between witnesses. 
 

15.26 The issue is whether the path users have used a defined route (or routes) rather 
than wandered at will.  The photographs supplied by the applicant show a path 
that was clearly defined on the ground before 2011, and that ran between mature 
trees and scrub, before emerging into a more open area, and then using one of 
two routes to join the footpath ZCK/6.  This is borne out by the four different aerial 
photographs included as appendices.  It would seem, from the evidence supplied 
by Gary and Ann Humphries, that “there was not a single exit on the path, the 
horses went right and back down Ryeworth Road, and walkers went left along 
ZCK 6.  The metal fence has made the path much narrower.  There was no kissing 
gate, the gap was open.”  The aerial photographs indicate a divergence of routes 
at the southern end, with horse riders continuing to the bottom corner of the field 
(where the gradient is lesser) and walkers emerging onto the footpath roughly 15 
metres further east.   The aerial photographs also support the comments made by 

Page 28



23 
 

Sally Scanlon and Jenny Hughes that “The track to point C varied in width with 
trees and undergrowth on both sides.  Although the land on both sides was open 
and unfenced, riders would keep to the track to avoid injury to horses from 
dangerous items which may have been hidden e.g. glass, cans etc.  At point C 
there was a wide open section with pedestrians able to turn left or right.  Horses 
could only turn right along the edge of the allotments to the Ryeworth Road exit.   
 

15.27 The landowner refers to “those with a vested interest in using an existing footpath 
as a bridleway, and seeking to legalise their trespass on horseback over private 
property to claim a bridleway”.  All land is private; a distinction needs to be made 
between trespass, which is a civil wrong, and criminal acts, such as using a motor 
vehicle over a footpath or bridleway without lawful authority, which do not establish 
a right.  The riding of a horse over a footpath or over private land is a trespass 
against the landowner; such use may under certain circumstances lead to a public 
right. 
 

15.28 The landowner asserts that because forms were completed by riders at Ham 
Stud stable yard that this does not represent the public.  Although forms were 
collected by the applicant Jenny Hughes at Ham Stud, we do not know whether all 
of the riders kept their horse there or not.  In any case, the requirement for use to 
be by the public would not preclude an application where witnesses knew each 
other or stabled their horses at the same establishment.  It would be more 
problematic, if for example, all of the witnesses belonged to one family. 
 

15.29 There are no standard minimum widths for paths added to the map through 
Definitive Map Modification Orders.  The process is evidential, and the width 
expressed in an order based on long user would be that which has been 
customarily used.   

 
15.30 In some circumstances the physical characteristics of a way can prevent a 

highway coming into existence through deemed or inferred dedication.  In 
Sheringham UDC v Halsey 1904 it was held that use by wheeled traffic of a public 
footway appointed by an Inclosure Award at 6 feet wide had always been an illegal 
public nuisance in view of the obstruction and danger to pedestrians, and no 
length of time could legalise it.  It is contended that the Sheringham case is 
different in that it relates to vehicular use of a 6 foot wide footway.  The existing 
public footpath ZCK/6, which forms part of the claimed route between points C and 
D varies in width between 1.7 and 2.4 metres.  With horse use dating back to 
1975, one would expect a history of complaint by walkers if horse use had been a 
public nuisance; a search of the Public Rights of Way area officer’s file for ZCK/6 
failed to disclose a single complaint about use by horses over this route, and this 
is not referred to by any of the witnesses who have completed public path 
evidence forms in support of their use of the route on foot.   The landowner, 
Charlton Kings Parish Council, makes reference to use by both types of user in 
their statement but does not refer to any conflict or nuisance.   
 

15.31 It is thus the recommendation of officers that: 
(a) A length of bridleway be added to the Definitive Map and Statement between 

points A and C on the attached map B; 
(b) The section C to D of public footpath ZCK/6 be upgraded to public bridleway  

Page 29



24 
 

 
15.32 The recommendation to add a section of public footpath to the Definitive Map 

and Statement between points A and C is subject however to a slight alteration in 
the route to the line as shown on the aerial photographs.   

15.33  
 
 

 
16.  APPENDICES  
 

A. Location Map, 1: 4,000 scale  
B. Map showing claimed route, 1: 1,250 
C. Summary of public path evidence forms 
D. Bar chart showing length of use  
E. Map completed by applicant showing claimed path  
F. Ordnance Survey, 25” to 1 mile map, 1st edition, 1880s  
G. Ordnance Survey, 25” to 1 mile map, 2nd edition, 1903  
H. Ordnance Survey, 25” to 1 mile map, 3rd edition, 1923  
I. Ordnance Survey 1: 2,500 map, 1955 
J. Ordnance Survey, 1: 2,500 map, 1972  
K. Aerial photograph, 2000  
L. Aerial photograph, 2006 
M. Aerial photograph, from Bing.com, undated 
N. Oblique aerial photograph, from Bing.com, undated  
O. Google Map Street View, June 2009, showing point A 
P. Google Map Street View, August 2010, showing point A 
Q. Google Map Street View, April 2011, showing point A 
R. Google Map Street View, August 2012, showing point A 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 30



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total Years Frequency 

of Use

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of Environment)

1 Sally Brown 4 Battledown 

Approach

2002 to 2011 9 40 times a 

year (approx.)

Circular horse ride 

between Ryeworth Rd 

and Greenway Lane to 

avoid A40

Width of path given as 1 to 2 m. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

2 Christine 

Burnett

Hyde Lodge, 

Evesham Road

2009 to 2011 3 12 times a 

year (approx.)

On horseback 

between Ryeworth 

Lane and Greenway 

Lane for pleasure

Width of path given between 4 ft and 6ft. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows existing PROW ZCK26.

3 Bev Clapham 5 Peel Close, 

Charlton Kings

1983 to 2011 28 Nearly 

everyday 

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane and 

vice versa

Width of path given as 4 ft. Witness notes path 

is blocked off with chain link fencing and posts. 

Path has provided a safe and convenient 

alternative to the busy and dangerous crossing 

at Sixways for over 20 years. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant from Greenway Lane across the field, but has 

marked a route running parallel to ZCK 6 instead of ZCK 

6 as claimed by the applicant. 

4 Jemima Cox Castle Dream Stud, 

Mill Lane, Charlton 

Kings

2010 to 2011 1 Twice a week Horse riding and 

cycling from Ryeworth 

Rd to Greenway Lane 

to avoid a dangerous 

junction

Width of path given as 4 ft. Witness notes a gate 

onto Ryeworth Road and a footpath sign on gate 

and states there is now fencing preventing 

access. It is dangerous for horse riders to use 

the traffic signals at Sixways because they don't 

last long enough. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

5 Jair and 

Rachel 

Fountain

18 Brooklands Park, 

Longlevens, 

Gloucester

"All" (2005-

2011?)

6 6 times per 

year

Horse riding between 

Ryeworth and 

Greenway

Width of path given as 6 ft. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

6 Fiona Hall 15 Pecked Lane, 

Bishops Cleeve

1990 to 2011 21 Up to twice a 

week

On horseback doing a 

round ride from Ham 

Hill to Ryeworth to 

Greenway Lane and 

along Mill Lane for 

recreation and 

exercising horses

Width of path given as 4 to 5 ft. Witness notes 

one single gate at Ryeworth Road end on a 

latch, no lock – normally closed. The path has 

always been open and has never had a gate on 

the Greenway Rd end.

Witness has noted that map is unclear so has attached 

an aerial map and marked the path used which follows 

the same route as the path claimed by the applicant. 

7 Debbie 

Hardiman

12 Castlefields 

Avenue

1975 until 2011 36 52 Horse riding between 

Ryeworth Rd and 

Greenway Lane to 

avoid London Rd

Width of path given as 6 to 10 ft Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

8 Nicola 

Hughes

36 Station Road, 

Andoversford

2000 to 2011 11 150 plus times 

per year

Horse riding circular 

route from stables in 

Ham Road

Width of path given as 4 ft approx. Witness 

notes use of this path is for safety especially with 

children to avoid the A40 at Sixways.

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

9 Sue Hughes 13 Taylor Road, 

Northleach

2009 to 2010 2 4 to 6 times 

per year

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane

Witness notes one gate on the path.  Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows existing PROW ZCK26.

MODIFICATION ORDER APPLICATION FOR AN ADDITIONAL BRIDLEWAY AND UPGRADE EXISTING FOOTPATH ZCK6 (PART) TO BRIDLEWAY AT GREENWAY LANE TO 

RYEWORTH ROAD, CHARLTON KINGS

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC PATH EVIDENCE FORMS SUBMITTED IN 2011

P
age 31



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total Years Frequency 

of Use

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of Environment)

10 Mrs H J 

Huntingford

Charlton House, 5 

Winchester Way

1996 to 2011 5 Over 100 

times a year 

(twice a week)

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane to 

avoid Sixways

Width of path given as 3 ft. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

11 Jane 

Maddison

102 Ryeworth Road, 

Charlton Kings

1994 to 2011 17 At least 52 

times a year

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane to 

Battledown to avoid 

the sixways junction

Width of path given as 1 to 3 m. Witness always 

believed this to be a public path and never saw 

any signs to the contrary. Path was used by 

horse riders and walkers everyday and is a safer 

alternative for horse riders to the alternative 

sixways junction. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

12 Dee Marrick Ham Hill South, 

Ham Road

2002 to 2008 6 Twice a year Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

complete a circuit from 

Ham Hill to exercise 

horses

Width of path given as 4 ft. Witness notes a gate 

on the path from Ryeworth Rd which was not 

locked. Witness didn't use the route very often 

and therefore is not aware of any obstructions. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows existing PROW ZCK26.

13 Emma Martin 7 Hetton Gardens, 

Charlton Kings

1986 to 2011 25 150 plus times 

per year

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane and 

vice versa to avoid the 

A40

Width of path given as 3.5 ft. Witness notes this 

path was used as there is no other way around 

avoiding the busy main A40 road. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

14 Dorothy 

Morrow

25 Foresters Road, 

Tewkesbury

2001 to 2005 

(inc.) & 2010 to 

2011(inc.)

7 6 to 12 times a 

year

Horse riding a circular 

route starting and 

finishing on Aggs Hill 

and Ham Road for 

leisure

Width of path given as 3 ft. Witness notes a gate 

at the entrance onto the path from Ryeworth Rd, 

which is closed but not locked. Witness believes 

there was a finger post pointing to that path from 

Greenway Lane. Witness assumed permission 

to use path was not necessary due to finger 

post. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

15 Rachel 

Robbins

6 Carisbrooke Drive 

, Charlton Kings

1989 to 2011 22 100 plus times 

per year

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane

Width of path given as pavement width. Witness 

notes the only obstruction being stuff dumped. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

16 Sally Scanlon 27 Kings Road 2003 to 2011 8 100 times per 

year

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane 

avoiding the Sixways 

junction A40

Width of path given as 1 and over open land. 

Witness notes fences and gates erected about 2 

months ago. Gate from Ryeworth Rd is onto 

public footpath not route claimed. Path runs over 

wasteland open on Ryeworth Rd and Greenway 

Lane and there is a clear path through the 

middle. Photos attached. 

Witness (who is also the applicant) has marked the path 

used on the map which follows the same route as the 

path claimed by the applicant, but has not marked ZCK 

6.

17 Beccy Shill 72 Little Herberts 

Road, Charlton 

Kings

2004 to 2011 8 10 times per 

year

Horse riding to avoid 

Sixways. 

Width of path given as 8 ft. Witness notes a gate 

on Ryeworth Road which is never locked.

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

18 Susan Jane 

Smith

20 Little Herberts 

Road, Charlton 

Kings

1975 to 2011 36 Lots Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd or 

Greenway Lane 

across the country

Width of path given as being different in different 

parts.Witness notes an unlocked gate at 

Ryeworth Rd. She did not know she needed 

permission. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

P
age 32



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total Years Frequency 

of Use

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of Environment)

19 Kathryn 

Warmisham

100 Beeches Road, 

Charlton Kings

1975 until 2011 36 Approx. 50 

times a year 

(roughly 

weekly)

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane and 

vice versa to avoid 

main road

Width of path given as 8 ft Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant across the field but follows a straighter route to 

Greenway Lane at the northern end and has not marked 

ZCK 6.

20 Fiona Wilson 10 Charlton Lawn, 

Charlton Kings

1991 to 2011 20 Approx. 52 

times per year

Horse riding from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane or 

vice versa

Width of path given as approx. 3 m. Witness 

notes path has recently been blocked off at both 

ends. Path used as it is not safe to use the lights 

at the end of Ryeworth Rd or Greenway Lane as 

they're on a very short timer and the horses 

weight doesn't trigger the sensors. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant apart from the short section at the Greenway 

Lane end which is marked slightly north of the claimed 

path. 

21 Zoe Ellis 21 Millbrook Street 2001 to 2011 10 3 times a 

week, 

sometimes 

more

On foot and horseback 

from Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane and 

vice versa as a safe 

passage

Width of path given as an open ground. Witness 

notes the ground has been unkept or used for 

the 11 years but horse riders and dog walkers 

have frequently used it. The alternative along the 

main London Rd is very dangerous.

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

22 Gill Fletcher The Lodge, 9 

Colesbourne

1987 to 2011 24 Up to 60 times 

per year

Horse riding and 

walking dog from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane and 

vice versa for walking 

dog and pleasure 

horse riding. 

Width of path given as 6 to 8 ft. Witness notes a 

gate on Ryeworth Road which is always 

unlocked with access available at all times. She 

has not known or met the owners and has never 

been challenged when using the path on foot or 

horse despite regularly being seen by other 

members of the public.

Witness has submitted two maps showing the path used. 

On the earlier map she has marked existing public 

footpath ZCK 26. On the later map she has marked the 

paths claimed by the applicant. 

23 Jenny 

Hughes

Ham Stud, Ham 

Road, Chalrton 

Kings

1983 to 2011 28 50 times per 

year

On a circular walk or 

horse ride from Ham 

Rd to avoid A40 and 

Sixways. From 1983-

87 use was with 

daughter on pony or 

for dog walking and 

recently has been with 

grandchildren on pony

Width of path given as 2 m plus. Witness notes 

brambles obstructing the path in the summer. 

She had always assumed this to be public land 

and used this route rather than take young 

children on ponies via the busy Sixways 

junction. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

24 Emma Hunter 136 Ryeworth Road 1997 to 2011 14 52 weeks per 

year usually 5 

times a week

Dog walking, horse 

riding and running 

between  Ryeworth Rd 

and  Greenway Lane 

and vice versa

Width of path given as 2 ft approx. Witness 

notes a gate on Ryeworth Rd. She has always 

seen the path open and people using it since 

she started using it. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

25 Fiona 

Lambert

7 Hamilton Street 2009 to 2011 2.5 52 times per 

year

Horse riding and 

walking in countryside 

with children from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane

Width of path given as 1- 2 m. Witness thought 

path was a public right of way as it was so well 

used. Witness notes path being closed makes 

getting to Greenway Lane dangerous on 

horseback as the alternative is via London Road 

at the Sixways junction which is dangerous. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

P
age 33



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total Years Frequency 

of Use

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of Environment)

26 Julie Olding 27 Chase Avenue, 

Charlton Kings

1987 to 2011 24 3 to 4 times a 

week

Horse riding and 

walking from Ryeworth 

Rd to Greenway Lane

Width of path given as 3 ft. Witness notes that 

the path has been used for many years with no 

problems. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

27 Tiffany 

Prescott

241 Cirencester 

Road, Charlton 

Kings

2007 to 2011 4 15 to 20 times 

per year

Horse riding and 

walking from Ryeworth 

Rd to Greenway Lane

Width of path given as 4 ft. Witness notes a gate 

at Ryeworth Rd that has a latch. Witness's 

perception was that the path was a public right 

of way.  

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

28 Jackie Searle Glenfall Stables, 

Ham Road, Ham, 

Charlton Kings

1999 to 2011 12 50 plus times 

per year

On foot and horseback 

from either Greenway 

Lane or Ryeworth Rd 

towards Sixways or 

Battledown for dog 

walking, riding and 

shopping. 

Width of path given as 4 ft. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

29 Melinda 

Wilson

Glenfall Stables, 

Ham Road, Charlton 

Kings

1976 to 2011 35 50 times per 

year

Horse riding and dog 

walking from Ryeworth 

Rd to Greenway Lane 

or the other way

Witness notes path has recently been fenced off 

at the Ryeworth Rd end. It is not safe to ride 

through the lights at the A40 junction Sixways 

because the pads to not recognise horses and 

the lights are very short so not long enough to 

cross the road. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant. 

30 Geoffrey P 

Airey

14 Foxgrove Drive 2005 to 2011 6 5 or 6 times 

per year

On foot as a circular 

walk from allotment on 

adjacent site for 

relaxation from 

digging!

Width of path given as 1 m. Witness notes no 

gates on the path until recently. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

31 Oliver Davis 

& Jane Baker

95 Ryeworth Road, 

Charlton Kings

2002 to 2012 10 50 plus times 

per year

On foot from 95 

Ryeworth Rd as a 

circular walk across 

fields for recreation

Width of path given as variable- approx. 15”. 

Witness notes the path has been a lovely area 

of wilderness for all to use. The new fence is 

unneccessary and doesn't belong in such a 

beautiful area of countryside. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant across the field but follows a straighter route to 

Greenway Lane at the northern end and has not marked 

ZCK 6.

32 M Byrne 1 Joan Hawley 

Mews, London Road

1989 to 2011 22 Quite a few 

per year

Walking from 

Greenway Lane to 

Ham

Width of path given as 1 m. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

33 Sarah 

Cotterell

97 Ryeworth Road, 

Charlton Kings

34 years 34 50 times per 

year

Walking to and from 

various places

Width of path given as 6 ft. Witness notes that 

she assumed that the path had always been a 

public right of way. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

34 Andy Dawson 239B London Road 1993 to 2011 19 12 times per 

year

On foot as part of a 

circular walk from hom 

for dog walking

Width of path given as 1 m. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

35 Sue Guildford Bibury, Battledown 

Approach

2002 to 2011 9 20 plus times 

per year

On foot as part of a 

circular route from 

Battledown or a nature 

trail with Guide 

company

Width of path given as 1.5 m. Witness notes a 

gate from Ryeworth Rd. Path was considered a 

public footpath and forms a regular route for 

taking Guides in the summer. On occasions they 

floated paper boats in the pond, took plaster 

casts of horses hooves and built fires. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

P
age 34



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total Years Frequency 

of Use

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of Environment)

36 Susan 

Heseltine

84 Ryeworth Road, 

Charlton Kings

38 years 38 Most weeks Walking from 

Ryeworth Road to 

Greenway Lane

Width of path given as 5 ft. Witness has not submitted a map. 

37 Andrew 

Heseltine

84 Ryeworth Road, 

Charlton Kings

32 years 32 Most Days Walking from 

Ryeworth Road to 

Greenway Lane

Width of path given as 3-4 ft plus. Witness notes 

path provides a nice walk and remembers when 

allotments were on the land with the path 

running through.

Witness has marked two routes on the map. One follows 

the same route as the path claimed by the applicant. The 

other follows a similar line but the northern section runs 

partially through the land with the allotments. ZCK 6 has 

not been marked. 

38 Mr & Mrs 

Humphris

Wadleys Farm, Ham 

Lane, Charlton 

Kings

1978 onwards 33 Several times 

a year

Walking usually from 

Sixways to Ham 

Square or Ryeworth 

Road.

Width of path given as variable - generally 

approx 6 ft. Witness notes a notice at Greenway 

end giving information about a pond project for 

Glenfall School. During the period the witness's 

have known this path they have seen many 

horses using it and note girls riding thier ponies 

on it from 1987.

Witnesses have marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant but with the southern end splitting in two 

towards its junction with ZCK 6. ZCK 6 has not been 

marked. 

39 Alan Jennings 11 Waterside Close, 

Andoversford

1960 to 1970 10 20 times per 

year

Walking to allotment. 

Also between home in 

Ryworth Rd to Cricket 

Ground

Width of path given as 6 ft. Witness notes an 

unlocked gate at the Greenway Lane end. 

Witness' father was an allotment tenant at the 

time witness used the path.

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

application across the field, but excluding the northern 

section running to Greenway Lane and ZCK 6.

40 Bernard 

Lawrence

14 Little Pheasants, 

Pumprheys Road

1940s until 2011 62-71 Not noted Walking Width of path given as 3 ft. Witness notes there 

were allotments on the land that the path runs 

over in the 1960s.

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

41 Mr C Peacey 56 Ryeworth Road, 

Charlton Kings

1960 to 2011 51 5 to 6 per year Walking from home Width of path given as 2 m. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant across the field but excludes the northern 

section running to Greenway Lane and ZCK 6.

42 Heather 

Peacey

36 Copt Elm Road, 

Charlton Kings

1962 to 2011 49 Lots per year Walking from home to 

Ryeworth Rd to 

greenway to home or 

Greenway Lane to 

home for pleasure and 

entertaining 

grandchildren

Width of path given as 1 m. Witness notes in the 

50s, 60s and 70s the land was used for 

allotments so the path went through the middle 

from Greenway Lane. Witness lived in Ryeworth 

Rod from 1959-1966.

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

43 David Pugh 35 Ryeworth Road, 

Charlton Kings

c.25 years 25 Variable - daily 

/ weekly - 

frequently

Walking from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane / feilds 

/ Ham for leisure

Width of path given as 1 m. Witness notes the 

path is now fenced off. 

Witness has not marked the map.

44 John Rigg 17 Briarbank Rise, 

Charlton Kings

1992 to 2010 18 6 times per 

year

Walking from 

Ryeworth Rd to 

Greenway Lane

Width of path given as 6 ft. Witness had 

assumed this was a footpath as he and his 

family had used it for many years and had seen 

many people using it. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

45 John Skinner 23A Ryeworth 

Road, Charlton 

Kings

1990 to 2011 21 500 plus times 

per year

On foot from 

Greenway Lane to 

Rhyworth Rd and 

reverse for dog 

walking and general 

walking

Width of path given as 4 to 5 ft. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

P
age 35



No Name Address of 

Witness

Period of time 

covered

Total Years Frequency 

of Use

Purpose of Use Other Remarks Comments (by Director of Environment)

46 Mrs J Vallins 5, Ashley Close, 

Charlton Kings

1974 to 2011 37 Every day for 

last 18 years

On foot from 

Greenway Lane to join 

footpath coming from 

Ryeworth Rd to walk 

dog

Width of path given as 4 ft. Witness notes 

having first known the path as part of derelict 

allotments 37 years ago. Witness has walked 

across this path nearly every day for the last 18 

years with her dog and has seen many other 

people walking the path with and without dogs 

and horse riders use it to avoid the busy Sixway 

junction. 

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the paths claimed by the 

applicant and has included part of the northern extension 

of ZCK 6.

47 Mrs E Ward Fieldway, Ham 

Road, Charlton 

Kings

1995 to 2011 16 Every 2 weeks 

approx. 25 

times per year

On foot from footpath 

along field from Ham 

beside Ham Brook to 

Greenway Land and 

Battledown for dog 

walking

Width of path given as 1 to 2 m. Witness notes 

the path is used by dog walkers, walkers, horse 

riders and children making dens. There has 

been a visible track at any time of the year.

Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant, but has not marked ZCK 6.

48 Robert 

Watson

261 London Road, 

Charlton Kings

2001 to 2011 10 Everyday Dog walking a circular 

route

Width of path given as 1 m. Witness has marked the path used on the map which 

follows the same route as the path claimed by the 

applicant across the field but the northern section to 

Greenway Lane is marked through the pond and ZCK 6 

has not been marked. 

P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 49



P
age 50



P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



P
age 57



P
age 58



Padlocked gate at point A

Fence and gate were erected in around October 2011

Google Streetview pictures  for  June 2009, August  2010 and April 2011 

show no gate or fence and path open to road 

P
age 59



Sign on tree close to point A

Photograph taken November 2015; sign was not there in April 2014 

P
age 60



Claimed path looking east from point A towards B

Width of path here is approximately 1.8 metres

Pond is on the left 

P
age 61



Pond north of claimed route between points A & B

Photograph taken November 2015 

P
age 62



Sheep wire and barbed wire fence at point B

Photograph taken November 2015

Fence has been erected since April 2014 

P
age 63



View looking south-east from point B

This area was cleared of trees and scrub in around October 2011

Photograph taken November 2015  

P
age 64



Looking south-east towards point C

The four white notices were erected  in April 2015 

P
age 65



Four notices and security fencing close to point C

Fencing was erected in around October 2011; field  was formerly open to 

public footpath ZCK/6 before this time 

Notices were erected April 2015 

P
age 66



Notices erected close to point C, facing footpath 

Notices erected April 2015, photograph taken November 2015 

P
age 67



Fence and notices at southern end of field 

November 2015 

P
age 68



Kissing gate at south-east corner of field

East of point C, does not affect claimed path

November 2015 

P
age 69



Security fencing along southern edge of field (C)

Fencing erected in around October 2011

Photograph taken November 2015

P
age 70



View through fencing of the four notices 

View is north from point C. Wording of signs is at section 7.8 of report

November 2015 

P
age 71



Notice at point C

Notice is attached to allotment fence.  It was erected in April 2015 in 

response to the four large placards in the adjacent field.  The wording of 

the sign is at paragraph 7.9 

P
age 72



Public footpath ZCK/6, looking west from point C

Path is level and enclosed by fences on both sides; allotments are on the 

right 

P
age 73



Looking west from allotment gate to point D

View along claimed route ZCK/6 from the gate into the allotments 

towards the gates separating the claimed route from the Ryeworth Road 

(point D) 

P
age 74



View from point D looking along footpath ZCK/6

Note tarmaced surface and wide verge- width here is 2.4 metres.  Gate 

into allotments visible at top of picture. 

P
age 75



Gates at point D, Ryeworth 

Looking south-west along public footpath ZCK/6. 

P
age 76



Gates at point D

Both gates are openable.  Photograph taken November 2015 

P
age 77



Closer view of gates at point D

Note bolt at bottom of right-hand gate which allows it to be opened 

P
age 78



Gates at point D from Ryeworth Road 

Sign on gate warns against dog fouling (Cheltenham Borough Council); 

sign on gate post encourages path users to be responsible dog walkers 

(Gloucestershire County Council) 

P
age 79



Public Footpath ZCK/26

View from  Greenway Lane across allotments .  Access is by stile or 

double gates. 

P
age 80



Public footpath ZCK/26 looking south

P
age 81



Public footpath ZCK/26

Gate onto public  footpath ZCK/6 can be seen in the distance 

P
age 82



Gate from public footpath ZCK/26 onto ZCK 6

Width of opening is 1 metre.  Gate is hinged and secured by a bolt. 

P
age 83



Claimed path between points B and C

30 November 2010 

P
age 84



Claimed path between points B and C 

20 December 2010  15.43, 26

P
age 85



Claimed path between points B and C

19 December 2010  15.51, 26 

P
age 86



Claimed path between points B and C 

9 August 2011  8.30 32 

P
age 87



Claimed path between points B and C

9 August 2011  8.30.38 

P
age 88



Claimed path between points B and C

9 August 2011 8.30.50 

P
age 89



Claimed path between points B and C 

9 August 2011  8.31.38 

P
age 90



Claimed path between points B and C 

9 August 2011 8.32.14.  View looking south towards Ryeworth Road 

P
age 91



Claimed path between points B and C 

9 August 2011  8.33.00

P
age 92



Claimed path between points B and C 

9 August 2011  8.33.38 

P
age 93



Claimed path between points B and C 

9 August 2011 9.06.00  

P
age 94



Claimed path after clearance work 

Photograph taken in around October 2011

P
age 95



2000 Aerial Photography

P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



2006 Aerial Photography

P
age 99



P
age 100



P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE
10 DECEMBER 2015

APPLICATION FOR A MODIFICATION ORDER FOR ADDITIONAL LENGTHS OF PUBLIC 
FOOTPATH AT HILLS FARM, PARISH OF CHEDWORTH

REPORT OF THE COMMISSIONING DIRECTOR 
FOR COMMUNITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

To consider the following application:

Nature of Application: Additional length of public footpath
Parish: Chedworth 
Name of Applicants: Chedworth Parish Council  
Date of Application: 1 December 2006

2. RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CASE OFFICER

(a)That no order be made to add a public footpath
(b)That an order be made to add a length of restricted byway to the Definitive  Map 

of Public Rights of Way and Statement between points A and B, and 
(c)That an order be made to re-classify part of Public Footpath KCH50 between 

points B and D to restricted byway. 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

 Average staff cost in taking an application to the Committee- £5,000.
Cost of advertising Order in the local press, which has to be done twice, is 
approximately £500 per notice.
In addition, the County Council is responsible for meeting the costs of any Public 
Inquiry associated with the application.
If the application were successful, the path would become maintainable at the 
public expense.

4. SUSTAINABILITY  & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

No sustainability implications have been identified. 

5. STATUTORY AUTHORITY

Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 imposes a duty on the County 
Council, as surveying authority, to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review and to modify it in consequence of the occurrence of an ‘event’ 
specified in sub section [3].  Any person may make an application to the authority 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5



for a Definitive Map Modification Order on the occurrence of an ‘event’ under 
section 53(3) (b) or (c).  The County Council is obliged to determine any such 
application that satisfies the required submission criteria in accordance with 
schedule 14 of the Act. 

6. DEPARTMENTAL CONTACT

Jaci Harris, Asset Data Officer (Definitive Map), Highway Authority.  
Telephone Gloucester (01452) 328981
E-mail: jaci.harris@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

REPORT

7. DESCRIPTION OF PATH

7.1 A location map at scale 1:10,000 is attached (Appendix A) showing the position 
of the claimed path at Chedworth.  The path is approximately 7.5 miles north 
north-east of the town of Cirencester.  The area of interest lies within Ordnance 
Survey Grid Squares SP0511 and SP0611.

7.2 The application concerns a claimed footpath at Calveshill in the Parish of 
Chedworth.  The original application and map of the area at 1: 2,500 scale is 
attached (Appendix B).  This map shows the claimed path by a continuous red 
line  commencing at its junction with restricted byway KCH31 (known as Horses 
Ash Lane and co-existent with the 50866 road) at Ordnance Survey Grid 
Reference (OSGR) SP0604/1168 and shown as point A.  It runs in a generally 
south south-westerly direction for approximately 170 metres to OSGR 
SP0595/1154 where it joins public footpath KCH50 and is crossed by Public 
Footpath KCH49 and shown as point B.

7.3 The claimed path was surveyed by a County Council officer on 7 October and 23 
November 2015.  The path was clearly visible on the ground and it was possible 
to compare it’s position on the ground with the position as shown on the 
claimants’ application map (Appendix B).  The claimed path was found to 
correspond with its position on the applicants’ map. 

7.4 At the time of survey, the claimed path between points A – B was found to have 
an overall width (between boundaries) of between 4–6 metres with a usable path 
of 2.7 metres running along it.  

7.5 In greater detail - the section of path as shown on (Appendix C) between points 
A and A1 is enclosed with a tree lined boundary to each side and an overall width 
of 6 metres (including boundaries) with a usable path of 2.7 metres running along 
it.  The first 60 metres in length is a stone track as shown at (Appendix D5).   
Thereafter there is well maintained tarmac path to point A1 (Appendix D6). 

7.6 Between points A1 and A2 the path continues as an unenclosed 2.7 metre wide, 
well maintained tarmac route, with a speed restrictor adjacent to ‘The Barn’ 
(Appendix D9).   

Page 104



7.7 From points A2 to B, the path has an overall width of 4 metres (including 
boundaries) with a 2.7 metre wide, well maintained tarmac route running along it. 
It is enclosed with a hedge to one side and a line of trees, some of which are 
presently being removed, to the other (Appendix D11).    

7.8 There is a notice at point A on the claimed path as shown as (Appendix D4) 
and a similar one at point B, as shown as (Appendix D15). They both state 
“NOTICE- THIS PATH IS ON PRIVATE LAND.  ALL PERSONS USING THIS 
LAND DO SO WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE OWNERS”.  These signs 
have been defaced with black spray paint. The one at point B appears to have 
been cleaned and much of the spray paint has been removed. 

7.9 When considering this application, the supporting evidence indicates that 
people used the claimed path as a way of travelling around the parish.  It is 
worth considering therefore, the status and character of the continuing route 
into the village as shown on Appendix C between points B and E.  

7.10 The route between these points continues as a well maintained tarmac path 
with a consistent overall width of between 3.5 to 4 metres. 

7.11 The section of path between the said point B and C at OSGR SP 0591/0047 is 
shown as a continuous blue line and is recorded as public footpath KCH50.  It 
extends for a length of approximately 93 metres in a generally south westerly 
direction to the junction with the 41042 road at point C. There is a second speed 
restrictor along this section (Appendix D17). It is worth noting that this section 
of path was added to the Definitive Map to facilitate the diversion of part of 
Public Footpath KCH50 by the same landowner.  The Order was confirmed on 
22 June 2006.  

7.12 The section of public footpath KCH50 between the said point C and D at OSGR 
SP0593/1154, is shown as a continuous green line on top of black dashes and 
is dually classified with the 41042 road for a length of approximately 73 metres 
(Appendix D19). 

7.13 The section of path between points D and E, shown as a continuous green line, 
continues as the 41042 road only.  

7.14 There are no obstructions or limitations between sections C and E. 

8. BACKGROUND

8.1 On 18 November 2006, the landowner, Mr England, emailed Mike Barton, the 
Public Rights of Way Officer for the South Cotswolds, advising him that he had 
located two signs at points A and B as shown at Appendix C to remind people 
that “its private property and anyone accessing it needs our permission”.  Mr 
England further stated that he had noted that “people were wandering off the 
marked footpaths”.....”but as you know Hills Farm has an extensive network of 
footpaths across it, and I just want to remind people that that they should stick to 
them”.   

Page 105



8.2 On 20 November 2006, Susie Moore (Chair of Chedworth Parish Council) 
emailed Mike Barton advising him that “he (Mr England, as mentioned previously 
in this email)  is now exercising his right to deny public access – and the people 
don’t like it!”  

8.3 On 21 November 2006, Mike Barton was contacted by a member of the public 
who wanted to draw his attention to the “private land signs on the path which is 
crossed by KCH49 and runs to Horses Ash Lane”...” and that he has challenged 
a number of people using the path” ... “although the path is not on the Definitive 
Map, it has been used unchallenged by walkers and riders for decades”.  She 
then advised “the parish council is applying for a modification order”.    

8.4 On 28 November 2006, Mr England was advised by Sarah Burge of the Public 
Rights of Way Team that Chedworth Parish Council had been sent an 
application pack with which to apply for a modification order on 24 November 
2006.   

9. APPLICATION

9.1 The completed application was received from Mrs Broad, Clerk to Chedworth Parish 
Council on 1 December 2006.  She drew attention to the fact that the path was shown 
on the Inclosure Award of 1804 (date as supplied). 

9.2 Notice was served on Mr England of Hills Farm, Chedworth dated 1 December 2006.   
The claimed path was described as being added from “the junction of KCH49 & 
KCH50” to “KCH31”.  

9.3 A total of 78 public path evidence forms, completed by 89 named individuals, were 
submitted in support of the application.  A summary of these evidence forms is 
provided at (Appendix E).

9.4 The application was acknowledged as duly made by the Public Rights of Way Team at 
Gloucestershire County Council on 6 December 2006. 

10.  LANDOWNERS’ EVIDENCE

10.1 A map showing the extent of land owned by the landowner affected by or adjacent to 
the claimed path is attached at Appendix F.  The land is all presently in the ownership 
of Simon England of Hills Farm although we have been made aware of subsequent 
interest in the land from representatives of potential purchasers.

10.2 18 November 2006, Mr Simon England emailed Mike Barton, the Public Rights of Way 
Officer for the South Cotswolds, advising him that he had located two signs at points A 
and B as shown at Appendix C to remind people that “its private property and anyone 
accessing it needs our permission”.  Mr England further stated that he had noted that 
“people were wandering off the marked footpaths”.....”but as you know Hills Farm has an 

Page 106



extensive network of footpaths across it, and I just want to remind people that that they 
should stick to them”.   

 
10.3 On 3 January 2007, Mr Simon England wrote to Susie Moore, Chair of Chedworth 

Parish Council copy sent to Mike Barton) to explain the presence of his signs.  He 
stated “it seems that many people have misunderstood the signs and their 
meaning.  Your recent entries on the website also suggest this – and are incorrect 
– as you state that I have erected “No Public Access” signs.  I have not.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, the track in question has not been closed by me and the 
intention has never been and remains that the track in question will not be closed.  
The only reason for signs to be erected is to confirm that the path is on private 
land”. 

10.4 In an email to Sarah Burge of the Public Rights of Way Team, dated 8 February 
2007, Mr England further explained his reasoning with regard to the signs saying 
“For the avoidance of doubt and contrary to some reports – I am happy for people 
to be using this private track – people doing so, are using it with my consent.  So 
at the moment there does not appear to be a real and immediate issue for 
residents”.   

10.5 Mr England has sent various emails requesting that he be kept up to date with the 
process.  

10.6 Mr Simon England did not respond to the consultation letter of 15 May 2015 which 
included the.  As stated previously we have been contacted by potential 
purchasers of the land.  They have been sent a copy of the Summary of 
Documentary Evidence, notice of the Commons and Rights of Way Committee at 
which this report will be discussed and information on the Definitive Map 
Modification Order process. 

11.      DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE
The County Archivist has examined sources in the Gloucestershire County 
Record Office to see if this path is marked in any way and has identified other 
sources which might be useful in establishing the status of any right of way along 
this route.  These sources have then been checked by the Modification Orders 
Officer. 

11.1   Chedworth and Compton Abdale Inclosure Award, 1805 (Q/RI/39)

Official map with award dated 1805. Award 1805 (copy: enrolled 1830) refers to 
Act of 43 Geo III (1803, Q/RIa39). Attached as (Appendix G).

The northern section between points A to A1 (Appendix C) is shown by two full 
lines (no given width) and shown as a pre-existing route, joining Horses Ash 
Lane,(which is shown coloured and set out as a public carriageway with a width 
of 30ft). Although it makes provision to set out private and public roads, no such 
ways are listed between points A and A1 within the Award.  The claimed path 
(red path) runs between plots 350 and 355 in the ownership of Ellis Rich, and 
then runs into plot 353 which is recorded as being in the separate ownership of 
Joseph Pitt. The boundary between of which is coloured blue.  The path is 

Page 107



separated from Horses Ash Lane at point A by a boundary feature but appears to 
be open to field 353.   

The southern section of the claimed (red path) is not shown.

11.2 Estate Plan for the estate of Joseph Pitt – 1806 
D1388, Box B, Chedworth, 1806. Plan of Joseph Pitt’s estate, identified by plot 
numbers. Shows whole route running south from ‘Horsley Ash Lane’ by 2 full 
lines running south across land belonging to Richard Ellis, then by one pecked 
line and one solid line running through plot 17 which was in the ownership of 
Joseph Pitts. The claimed path is coloured yellow as are other known roads in 
the vicinity and shows two boundary features (gates) at the junction with Horsley 
Ash Lane and at boundary with Richard Ellis’s land.  It may also be reasonable 
to assume that Joseph Pitt used the claimed footpath to access his land north of 
Horsley Ash lane (field parcel numbers 7 and 8). (Appendix H).

11.3   Tithe map, 1843 (GDR/T1/50) 
The claimed (red path) from point A to A1 is shown by full lines running between 
plots 534 and 535, which were in the ownership of Geoffrey Randall.  The status 
is otherwise undefined. The southern section of the route beyond point A1 is not 
shown.  There are no boundary features across the claimed (red path) at its 
junction with Horses Ash Lane or at the point where the path runs into the field 
with plot number 545, in the ownership of William Dyer.  From point A1 the 
claimed (red path) ceases to be illustrated.  Tithe maps provide important 
evidence as to the existence of a public right of way.  The maps were drawn up 
under statutory authority by the Tithe Commissioners under the provisions 
contained in the Tithe Commutation Act of 1836 to show all cultivated land, 
arable and pasture, as tithe was payable on land producing crops.  They also 
had to show wasteland and roads, because tithe was not payable on these.  
Thus a distinction is made between tithable and untithable land, with roads 
clearly marked as untithable.  As tithes were not payable on public highways, 
these are often shown in a special colouring on the plans.  (Appendix I). 

11.4 Ordnance Survey 25”: 1 mile, 1883 first edition, sheet no: 43/4. 
The route is coloured burnt sienna in common with other known roads; there is 
evidence of a gate at A, and another one to the north of B. The route from the 
gate above B to A is marked by full lines, while below the lower gate it is marked 
by double pecked lines, but the status is otherwise undefined. The 3rd Edition 
1922 OS map shows the same features, except that the map is not coloured.  

The 1979 OS sheets (SP0511& SP0611), show basically similar features, except 
that the more southerly section is presented as double pecked with a verge to 
either side within an enclosed space, and both sections of the route (i.e. either 
side of the mid-point gate) are described as “Track”. (Appendix J).

11.5 1st edition 1”: 1 mile Ordnance Survey map, 1817 (ROL) 
Whole route shown coloured white in common with lesser routes.  Whole route 
indicated by full lines, but status otherwise undefined. 

Page 108



11.6 Ordnance Survey maps carry a disclaimer that any representation of a road, 
track or path is not evidence of the existence of a right of way over it.  However, 
they do provide evidence of the physical existence and extent of a way, 
suggesting (but not proving) that the path had been in use for a longer period 
than that for which user evidence is available.

11.7 On both 1817 & 1883 Ordnance Survey maps, the claimed path is shown in a 
manner consistent with other known highways on the maps.  It appears that this 
path was the main access to fields and Hills Farm, which were in the ownership 
of Joseph Pitt, suggesting that it was private, however no indication of status is 
given. The boundary feature at point A on both maps suggests that the route 
was gated, however, public as well as private highways were often gated at this 
time.  The continuation of this section of the claimed path is shown as a 
physical feature on the ground by double-pecked lines.  The Ordnance Survey 
maps are evidence that this section of the claimed path existed from as early as 
1884-85, but they do not give evidence of the status of the way.  They are the 
only documents identified that show this section of the claimed path.

11.8 Bryant, Map of Gloucestershire, 1824
Whole route shown coloured white, which on Bryant’s key indicates a lane or 
bridleway. Whole route indicated by full lines, but status otherwise undefined. 

11.8.1 Inland Revenue, maps compiled under the Finance Act, 1910, based on 
Ordnance Survey 25”: 1 mile, c. 1902 edition, marked up by Inland 
Revenue c. 1915, and reference books or files (D2428)
Although the forms 37 are held for Chedworth (D2428/2/39) the map sheet 
(43/4) is not. 

11.8.2 Maps deposited with County Planning Officer under Rights of Way Act, 
1932 S1, 3 (CP/D)
There is nothing relevant.

11.9 Parish Council file, Rights of Way Act, 1932
P77a/PC1/1- 4 - Parish Council Minutes, 1894 – 1974 (4 vols). Not checked
P77a/PC4/4 – Clerks general correspondence file, 1895 -1919. Not checked. 

           Other documents which could be examined:

(i) Duplicate copies of tithe or inclosure awards

MF1126/46 – Microfilm copy of tithe map
PC1812/50 – Modern hand drawing of tithe map.

(ii) Footpath or highway diversion orders deposited with Clerk of the Peace 
(Q/SRh).

None held. 

(iii) Plans of public schemes deposited with Clerk of Peace (Q/Rum). 
 

Page 109



Not checked. 

(iv) District Council Clerk’s correspondence.

DA31/132/6 & 17 – Clerk’s general footpaths correspondence files, 1952 – 64, 
and 1968 – 73. Not relevant. 

(v) County Council Solicitor’s correspondence.

K596/27/5 – 1949 Act objections file. Not relevant. 

(vi) County Surveyor: papers relating to survey of footpaths under     National 
Parks and Access to Countryside Act, 1949 (K687)

K687/1/10 – Draft Submission. Features as OS maps, except no gate indicated 
at A. Route unclaimed. 

K687/2/8/1 – Objection file.  Not relevant.

K687/3/15 – Provisional map.  Features as draft submission, and unclaimed.  

(vii) Tony Drake archive (Ramblers’ Association) (D12676)

D12676/1/7/1- Summary Sheet of pathway problems in Chedworth Parish, 
1975.  Checked – not obviously relevant. 

D12676/2/1/16 – Chedworth file, 1952 – 2006. Not specifically relevant, 
although a copy of the stopping up order for KCH50 in 2006 is in the file. 

12.      CONSULTATIONS

12.1 The following organisations and councils were consulted on the 22nd July 2015 
regarding the application.  Their comments are as follows:

12.2 County Councillor
Councillor Hodgkinson was consulted regarding the application.  No comments 
have been received.

12.3 Chedworth Parish Council 
No comments were received. 

12.4 Cotswold District Council
Ms Sue Bremner, Countryside and Landscape Services at Cotswold District 
Council was consulted regarding the application.  She responded on 23rd July 
2015 saying that the matter had been passed to Sophia Price for consideration.  
Sophia Price, Heritage and Design Manager responded on 5th August 2015 
stating “no comments”.  

12.5 Ramblers’ Association

Page 110



Mr Steve Day, Footpath Secretary for Mid Gloucestershire Group was consulted 
regarding the application.  No comments have been received.

12.6    The British Horse Society
Mrs Lois Eyre emailed on 15 October 2015 to say that the BHS had no 
knowledge of the track being used.

 
13.      APPLICANT

13.1 The landowner, Mr Simon England, was sent a letter of consultation dated 15 
May 2015 attached to which was a Summary of Public Path Evidence Forms 
and his comments were invited.  No comments have been received to date and 
therefore the applicant had nothing to respond to. 

      
14. USER EVIDENCE 

14.1 The user evidence for the claimed path is substantial and long running.  It 
indicates extensive, unchallenged public enjoyment of the route for a period of 
up to 70 years dating back to 1936.  78 Public Path Evidence Forms were 
submitted by 89 named witnesses in support of the application.  Public Path 
Evidence Form 3 was completed by Stephen Potter, who will be referred to as 
‘witness 3’ and Public Path Evidence Form 14 was completed by Susan 
Sheddon, who will be referred to as ‘witness 14’. 

14.2 For long usage to give rise to a presumption of dedication, user must be without 
force, secrecy or permission.  User that complies with these three requirements 
is termed user ‘as of right’.  

Not all of the user evidence received could be deemed ‘as of right’.  Witness 1, 
used the claimed path “for leisure often en route to previous owner of Hill Farm”.  
As this use was often for access purposes, this would not constitute use ‘as of 
right’.  This use should not be totally discounted however because access was 
described as often, not always.   

14.3   The type of use of the claimed path has been varied.  Witnesses claim to have 
used the route by foot, horseback, bicycle and car.  Most of the witnesses have 
used the route by more than one means.  The length of use by each of the 
different types is discussed.  The summary of Evidence Forms can be seen at 
Appendix E. 

 87 witnesses identified the length as footpath, 
 18 further identified the path as footpath and bridleway.  
 7 further added that they cycled along the track in addition to walking 

and riding a horse.  
 4 claimed vehicular use of the track in addition to the above.    
 55 of the witnesses have used the claimed route for 20 years or more, 
 34 Claimants have used the route for 19.25 years or less 

14.4     Witnesses are asked to mark on a map the route that they used.  

Page 111



1. 57 of the 89 witnesses have indicated the route being claimed by the 
applicant - A to B Appendix C.  

2. A further 9 witnesses have marked on the map the route claimed by the 
applicant but extending the use to include Public Footpath KCH50 – A to 
D.  

3. A further 3 witnesses marked on the map the claimed route A to B plus 
the short section of Public Footpath KCH49 – B to D.  

4. Witnesses 4, 15, 21 and 22 did not mark up the map at all but described 
the paths as ‘from KCH49’ to ‘KCH31’.   

5. The remaining 16 marked up the claimed (red path) plus all other paths in 
the area.  

14.5 It is useful to consider the destinations of people using the claimed path.  
Although the applicant and 57 supporting witnesses claimed the relatively short 
section of claimed path A to B, it is clear from the Public Path Evidence Forms 
that they used it as part of a through route.   Witness 11 stated that the path 
was used to “walk around the village”, witnesses 16 (husband & wife) stated 
that they used the path “to get to St Andrews School, to friends and just 
walking to pub” and witness 36 stated that she used the path to get “from one 
end of the village to the other”.   

14.6    87 of the 89 witnesses who used the way wholly ‘as of right’, used it by foot.  

Use on foot dates back to 1936 by witness 47, who used it “continuously”.  
Witness 56, used it “between 5 and 50 times per year” since 1948, witness 50, 
whose use “varied between several times a week to a few times a year” since 
1953 and witness 46, whose use of the path “varied from 30 to 5 times a year” 
since 1957.  A further two witnesses have used the path for 40 years or longer.  
These are witnesses 17 and 63.  

14.7    23 witnesses have used the path on foot for 30 years or longer. 

14.8    25 witnesses have used the path on foot from between 20 and 29 years. 

14.9  The remaining 33 witnesses used the path on foot from between 1 and 19.25 
years.   

14.10 18 of the 89 witnesses have used the claimed path wholly ‘as a right’ on 
horseback.  

During the path inspections of 7 October and 23 November 2015, the County 
Council Officer noted that Public Footpath KCH49 crosses the claimed path at 
its junction with Public Footpath KCH50 shown as point B on Appendix C.  
Wooden steps were found in the verge on both sides of the path at this location. 
To the west of point B, there is a short steep gradient down to a small woodland 

Page 112



coppice which leads to point D, along which there are 6 wooden steps to assist 
with access (Appendices D12&14). To the east of point B, there is a short 
steep gradient up to a gate in which 4 wooden steps have been installed 
(Appendix D12&13).  None of the witnesses have specifically identified the 
route they used when riding or cycling.  In view of the gradient and terrain of the 
adjoining paths as described, and the presence of steps at this location, it would 
be reasonable to assume that riders and cyclists would have proceeded along 
the claimed path into the village from point A via B-C-D-E. 

14.11 Use on horseback dates back to 1960 by witness 14, who has used it approx 50 
times a year.  Also witness 17, who used the route on horseback on many 
occasions since 1958.  A further sixteen witnesses have used the route on 
horseback.  

14.12  7 of the 89 witnesses have mentioned using the claimed path wholly ‘as a right’ 
on bicycle as well as other means such as foot or horseback.  These are 
witness 2, (Sarah Foley), witness 4 (Mr Sinton) witnesses 6 (John and Susan 
Francis), witness 11 (Anne Marie Rocca), and witnesses 16 (Sharon and David 
Smith).  

14.13 4 of the 89 witnesses have used the claimed path by car.  Witness 1, used the 
path by car but as previously noted, his use was not always ‘as of right’, 
because he often drove to Hills Farm.  Witness 2 has used the claimed path 
with her Land Rover for 31 years since 1973.  Witness 3 drove along this path 
more ‘than 50 times a year’ for 12 years since 1994 and witness 4 used his 4x4 
3 or 4 times a year for 7 years since 1999. 

15 LEGAL COMMENTS AND CONCLUSIONS

15.1 Section 53(3) (c) (i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 relates to the 
discovery by the Authority of evidence that shows that a right of way that is not 
shown on the map and statement subsists, or is reasonably alleged to subsist, 
over land in the area to which the map relates.

15.2 Section 53(3) (c) (ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 relates to the 
discovery by the Authority of evidence that shows that additional rights exist 
over a way already shown on the map and statement subsists, or is reasonably 
alleged to subsist, over land in the area to which the map relates.

15.3 Section 56(1) (a) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 states that where the 
Definitive Map shows a footpath, the map shall be conclusive evidence that 
there was at the relevant date a highway as shown on the map and that the 
public had thereover a public right of way on foot.

15.4 Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 states that where a way over any land, 
other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise 
at Common Law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed by 
the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way 
is deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless “there is sufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it”.  

Page 113



15.5 Section 31(2) states that the period of 20 years in sub-section (1) is to be 
calculated retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the 
way is brought into question through an overt act by the landowner which makes 
it clear to the public that their right is being challenged.  

15.6    The judgement R (on the application of Godmanchester Town Council) v S of S 
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs; R (on the application of Drain) v S of S 
for DEFRA, 2007 affirms that it is not the case that any evidence of a lack of 
intention to dedicate is sufficient; there has to be an overt act or acts on the part 
of the landowner to show the public at large that he has no intention to 
dedicate.

15.7  The presumption is that the way has been dedicated though long user by the     
public, unless the landowner can demonstrate sufficient evidence of attention of 
a lack of intention to dedicate (through overt acts directed at path users) or 
through interruption during the relevant twenty year period, for example through 
periodically locking a gate and preventing access. It would depend on the facts 
of the case as to whether this is enough to amount to a sufficient interruption 
(for which Court of Appeal in Lewis v Thomas (1950) KB 438.  

15.8 “An interruption” has been defined as “an actual and physical stopping of the 
public’s enjoyment” (Merstham Manor Ltd v Coulsdon and Purley Urban DC    
[1937] 2 KB 77) as opposed to an act which merely challenges the public’s right.  
It is not a mere absence in the continuity of use.  Moreover, such interruption 
must be with the intention to prevent public use.  It is not sufficient if the 
interruption is for some other purpose.

15.8 Mr England located two signs at points A and B as shown at Appendix C to 
remind people that “its private property and anyone accessing it needs our 
permission” (email to Mike Barton, of 18 November 2006). Although the signs 
provided sufficient evidence of his lack of intention to dedicate the path and also 
made the public aware that their use of the path was being challenged, it would 
only take effect from the date that the notices were installed and would not 
prevent users from submitting a claim for the retrospective 20 years use prior to 
the notices being installed.     

15.9 Paragraph 12 of Annex B of the Department of Environment Circular 2/93 states 
that before making an order the surveying authority must be satisfied that the 
evidence discovered by the Council, when considered with all other relevant 
evidence available, shows that, on the balance of probabilities, a right of way of 
a particular description exists. The relevant tests are now set out in section 4.4 
of the Defra Rights of Way Circular 1/2009, version 2 (October 2009). 

15.10 The issue is whether the evidence discovered by the Council, when considered 
with all other relevant evidence available, shows that, on the balance of 
probabilities, the Definitive Map and Statement require modification because a 
right of way which is not shown on the map and statement subsists, or is 
reasonable alleged to subsist. 

Page 114



15.11 Under Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, when determining whether a way 
has or has not been dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such 
dedication, if any, took place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or 
history of the locality or other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, 
and shall give such weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified in 
the circumstances, including the antiquity of the tendered document, the status 
of the person by whom and the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and 
the custody in which it has been kept and from which it is produced.  

15.12 The application, which is based on evidence of use by the public, is assisted by 
documentary evidence.  

15.13 All maps were compiled for different reasons - the significance of Inclosure 
Awards arises from their value as legal documents giving effect to the creation 
or extinguishment of public highways, depending on the powers given to the 
Inclosure Commissioners. The Inclosure Award for Chedworth, dated 1805 
(Appendix G), although making provision to set out private and public roads, 
did not list any such ways along the claimed path. Joseph Pitt’s private Estate 
Map of 1806 (Appendix H) was drawn up to show his ownership and although it 
does not have the same legal provenance, it does being a contemporary 
document, provide support to the Inclosure Award.  Both documents show a 
track with defined boundaries between points A- A1 as shown on Appendix C.  
The Inclosure Award shows a property, known today as The Barn abutting this 
section of path.  It does not however show the path extending beyond point A1. 
The private estate map however, although not showing The Barn, presumably 
because it was not in Joseph Pitt’s ownership, shows the path extending to Hills 
Farm.  

15.14 Both documents also show a track between points E to C as shown on 
Appendix C. The Inclosure Award indicates that this was both access to the 
property, known today as Wool Pack, and also access to the fields south of 
Joseph Pitt’s estate whereas the private estate map, which does not show the 
Wool Pack, presumably again because it was not in Joseph Pitt’s ownership, 
only shows the path running to his fields.  Although both paths, point A to Hills 
Farm and points E to C are shown on the private estate map, most of which 
crosses land in Joseph Pitt’s ownership, it is interesting to note that there is a 
boundary feature at point C indicating that they did not join at this time. It could 
be suggested therefore that both paths were private carriageways used by local 
residents and landowners for access purposes.  

15.15 Tithe Maps provide important evidence as to the existence of a public right of 
way. The maps were drawn up under statutory authority by the Tithe 
Commissioners under the provisions contained in the Tithe Commutation Act 
1836 to show all cultivated land, as tithe was payable on land producing crops. 
They also had to show waste land and roads, because tithe was not payable on 
these.  The Chedworth Tithe Map 1843, as shown as Appendix I, is similar to 
the Inclosure Award in that it clearly shows a track with defined boundaries 
between points A and A1 leading to field No 545 and the property, The Barn, as 
shown on Appendix C, but no further.  

Page 115



15.16 The Tithe Map also shows the section of path between point E and the property, 
now known as Wool Pack but does not show it extending beyond this.  This 
track and the claimed route between points A to A1 are both uncoloured as are 
the other known roads in the area which could indicate that they were 
considered to be roads (public or private) exempt from tithes.    

15.17 The Ordnance Survey 1st Edition County Series 1883 Map as shown Appendix 
J, shows the claimed route running from points A to E on Appendix C with the 
same colouring - burnt sienna, as other known roads in the area at the time.  It 
is interesting to note that the route west of the claimed path which was clearly 
identified on the Inclosure and Tithe Maps as a through route is not shown 
wholly coloured burnt sienna as a road on this map. This path, although direct, 
is extremely steep and it could be inferred that although historically, this 
appeared to be one of the main through routes in the village, it’s gradient may 
have made it less well used over the years in favour of the claimed path which is 
less steep. 

15.18 Although Ordnance Survey maps carry a disclaimer with regard to paths shown 
on maps to the effect that “the representation on this map of any other road, 
track or path is no evidence of the existence of a right of way”, they do provide 
evidence of the physical existence and extent of a way.  In this case, it supports 
Joseph Pitt’s private estate map by showing the claimed path extending beyond 
point A1. This map further indicates that by 1883 the boundary feature, as 
shown on Joseph Pitt’s private estate map, had disappeared thus providing one 
long continuous path between points A and E.  The previous maps appeared to 
indicate that the claimed path and its continuation to Hills Farm and the path 
between E and C may have been used as private carriageways for local 
landowners such as Joseph Pitt and the property owners.  It may be reasonable 
to infer however that by 1883, this had become a public carriageway.

15.19 There is no fixed method by which the public’s right is brought into question, 
though one (the erection of a notice) is expressly referred to in Section 31.  The 
words “or otherwise” in Section 31(2) leave the matter at large.  Lord Denning in 
Fairey v Southampton CC (1956) said “In order for the right of the public to have 
been brought into question, the landowner must challenge it by some means 
sufficient to bring it home to the public that he is challenging their right to use 
the way, so that they may be apprised of the challenge and have a reasonable 
opportunity of meeting it”.  

15.20 The methods by which the public’s right to use the way might be brought into 
question could include: the locking of a gate; putting up a notice denying the 
existence of a right of way; seeking a declaration that there is no highway over 
the land in question or physically preventing a walker from proceeding along a 
path.  Whatever means are employed, it should be sufficient “to make it likely 
that some of the users are made aware that the owner has challenged their right 
to use the way as a highway… The persons to whom the challenge has to be 
brought home are the users of the way.”  (Lord Dyson in R v Secretary of State 
for the Environment, Transport and the Regions ex parte Dorset CC (1999)

Page 116



15.21 The date of calling into question is simply the date when, as the result of some 
action, the public’s entitlement to use the way was put in issue.  This clearly 
happened when Mr England installed the signs at points A and B as shown on 
Appendix C in 2006 claiming that use was by permission.  This was addressed 
in paragraph 15.8. 

For the purposes of section 31 of the 1980 Highways Act, the qualifying period 
of use should be taken to be 1986 to 2006.

15.22 In total, 78 public path user evidence forms were completed by 89 named 
people of which 87 claimed use of the route on foot.  It is not essential for the 
path or way to have been used for the full period of 20 years by the same 
persons; the period may accrue as a result of use by different persons for 
shorter periods.  Nor does it matter that the use is not continuous in the sense 
that it may not have occurred everyday.  

15.23 Use dates back to 1936 and when considering the statutory period, there are 55 
witnesses who have used the path throughout the qualifying period between 
1986 and 2006. 

15.24 Use on foot is substantial.  There are 87 witnesses who have supplied evidence 
that they have used the claimed route and the route described and marked on 
the maps accompanying the public path evidence forms is consistent in their 
depiction of the claimed route.  No evidence has been provided that this use has 
been challenged in any way or of a lack of intention to dedicate prior to 2006.  
The user evidence would support a case for deemed dedication as a public 
footpath.  

15.25 However, the use on horseback is also substantial and must be considered.  In 
total, 14 public path user evidence forms were completed by 18 named people 
who had used the claimed route on horseback and who have supplied evidence 
that they have used the claimed route and the route described and marked on 
the maps accompanying the public path evidence forms is consistent in their 
depiction of the claimed route.  No evidence has been provided that this use has 
been challenged in any way or of a lack of intention to dedicate prior to 2006.

15.26 Use dates back to 1958/59 and when considering the statutory period, there are 
9 witnesses who have used the path throughout the qualifying period between 
1986 and 2006. The user evidence therefore would support a case for deemed 
dedication as a public bridleway.  

15.27 7 of the 89 witnesses have claimed use of the path wholly ‘as a right’ on bicycle 
as well as other means such as foot or horseback.  6 witnesses have used the 
path throughout the qualifying period between 1986 and 2006. Section 68 of the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 amends section 31 of 
the Highways Act 1980 so as to ensure that use of a way by a non-mechanically 
propelled vehicle (such as a pedal cycle) is capable in appropriate 
circumstances of giving rise to a public right of way for non-mechanically 
propelled vehicles (a restricted byway). 

Page 117



15.28 There is additional evidence of use by motor vehicle but it is not compelling. Of 
the 4 users who claimed to have driven along the claimed path, only 3 could be 
fully considered as being ‘as of right’.  In Whitworth v SSEFRA [2010] WWCA 
Civ 1486 the issue of sufficiency of user was addressed.  Lord Justice Carnwath 
thought that evidence relating to the use by two cyclists was “insufficient to 
support a finding of use as enjoyment as of right “by the public”.  

15.29 The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC) sought to 
restrict motor vehicular access in the countryside and as a result, even if there 
was more compelling evidence of motor vehicle use, this path could only be re-
classified to Restricted Byway status unless one of the exceptions as set out in 
S67(2) NERC (as discussed in paragraph 15.33) could be deemed to apply.   

15.30 No evidence has been provided that use by cyclists or motor vehicle users has 
been challenged in any way or of a lack of intention to dedicate prior to 2006. 
The combined evidence along the claimed path by both users is considered 
sufficient therefore to raise a presumption of dedication of restricted byway 
rights.    

15.31 The user evidence clearly shows that the claimed path was used as part of a 
longer route around the village.  The evidence for both the claimed path 
between sections A and B and its continuation which is currently recorded as 
Public Footpath KCH50, between points B and D as shown on Appendix C (of 
which section C to D is dual classified with the 41042 road), is sufficiently 
compelling to make the recommendation for a restricted byway between points 
A to D.  

15.32 It is worth clarifying the reason that the dual classified section of path between 
points C and D, is included in this recommendation. Currently this section is 
recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as Public Footpath KCH50 which 
legally permits access on foot and is separately recorded on the List of Streets 
as the 41042 road, which allows access to all users. 

15.33 Section 67(1) of the NERC Act extinguishes public rights for mechanically 
propelled vehicles over ways shown on a definitive map and statement as a 
footpath, bridleway or restricted byway. The evidence supplied in support of this 
application indicates that there are higher rights than footpath along this path 
which has resulted in the recommendation for restricted byway but extinguishing 
motor vehicle rights between points C and D would leave only footpath rights 
along this section.   This extinguishment under s67(1) of NERC is subject to a 
number of exceptions as set out in s.67(2) and listed below:-.  

(a) ways where the main use was by motor vehicles (rather than by other users, 
e.g. walkers, cyclists, horse riders and horse drawn vehicles) over the period 
2001-2006;

(b) ways that are recorded on the list of highways maintainable at public expense 
(the List of Streets) but are not recorded on the Definitive Map of Public Rights 
of Way;  

Page 118



(c) ways that have been expressly created (by legislation or by instrument) for 
motor vehicles [for example by a Section 38 agreement, provided that the 
wording was clear, or other expressed dedication]; 

(d) ways that have been created by the construction of a road intended to be used 
by motor vehicles [for example Gloucester South West Bypass using Section 24 
Highways Act 1980]; and

(e) ways over which rights for motor vehicles were created through use by such 
vehicles prior to 1930, when it first became an offence to drive off-road.  If a way 
already carried vehicular rights then evidence of use by motor vehicles would 
not meet this exemption.  

15.34 Only subsection 67(2)(a) could apply and this is a two-part test.  Main lawful use 
means that the way had to first carry a public vehicular right as of 2 May 2006 
and second that the main use of the way between 2001 and 2006 was by motor 
vehicle (as opposed to other categories of user such as walkers, cyclists, horse 
riders and horse-drawn vehicles).  Motor vehicular use in itself does not 
preserve the right: such use has to be greater than the other uses.  

15.35 The main-user test is highly subjective and relates to an elapsed period, 
meaning that it has become increasingly difficult to ascertain what the main use 
may have been over a period that is now between nine and fourteen years ago.  
The Guidance Notes to the NERC Act (para.21 of version 5, 28 May 2008) state 
with reference to the main-user test “that the intention of the subsection was to 
except highways that are part of the ‘ordinary roads network”.   

15.36 The term ‘main lawful use’ is not defined in the Act.  Version 5 of the Guidance 
Notes states “it is for local highway authorities… to adopt a pragmatic approach 
and arrive at a judgement as to what has been the main use of the way by the 
public in the five years leading up to 2 May 2006….” (para.27).  Where 
necessary authorities should assess the evidence available on the relative 
volumes of walkers, horse riders, cyclists and motor vehicles and other users, to 
see whether it can be shown, on the balance of probabilities, that lawful use of 
the routes had been predominantly by motor vehicles.

15.37      Bearing in mind the DEFRA Guidance to the NERC Act which suggests that we 
take a pragmatic approach regarding s.67(2)(a), the County Council takes the 
view that the main use between 2001 and 2006 can be inferred from its physical 
character (surfacing, signage, street furniture).  

15.38 Consideration has been given to the section of dually classified path between 
points C and D as shown on (Appendix C), to determine its ‘main lawful use’. 
As the photos (Appendix D18&19) show, it is a well maintained tarmac path 
without obstruction or limitation and has a width of 3.5 – 4 metres and would 
reasonably be considered by members of the public to form part of the ‘ordinary 
road network’.  However this section of path is a cul-de-sac, it does not link with 
any other roads and does not have a point of termination.  Only 3 of the 89 
witnesses have claimed to use a motor vehicle along the claimed path ‘as of 
right’ and even those three witnesses have also claimed use of the path by 

Page 119



other means.  Further, it could be inferred that the motor vehicle use of this path 
during the specified period of 2001- 2006 as required under subsection 67(2)(a) 
NERC, is associated with access to The Barn, Wool Pack and Hills Farm.  The 
78 public user evidence forms completed by 89 named individuals submitted 
with this application is compelling evidence of the use of this path by users other 
than by motor vehicle. Taking into account these points, we do not consider that 
motor vehicle use of the dual classified path meets the ‘main user’ test and thus 
could not be considered as an exception to the extinguishment of motor vehicle 
rights from this section of dually classified path. 

15.39 The determination is made therefore that the main use of the path would be by 
means other than that of motor vehicle.  The extinguishment of public motor 
vehicle rights along section C to D, leaves this section of path as Public 
Footpath KCH50, which would make use of the path by horse riders and cyclists 
a trespass against the landowner.  Including this section of path in the 
recommendation for restricted byway would allow such user groups to continue 
using this path as claimed in their witness statements as access around the 
village.        

15.40 It should be noted that where a private right of way for vehicles is extinguished 
by subsection 67(1) NERC, then a private motor vehicular right is preserved 
under s67(5) for those people who have reasonable need for access by motor 
vehicles to land in which they have an interest.  The private right of way for 
motor vehicles extends to landowners, occupiers and tenants. It will also include 
lawful visitors to the person who has an interest in the land including: business, 
trade or professional visitors; postal or other deliveries; the highway authority; 
and utility companies who have apparatus/ equipment along the highway. 

15.41 In conclusion, I believe the witness statements and the documentary evidence 
show that on the balance of probability the claimed path between A and B and 
the continuing path between B to D, currently shown as Public Footpath KCH50 
has been enjoyed by the public ‘as of right’, without interruption or challenge for 
a period far in excess of 20 years prior to 1 December 2006 when the rights of 
the public were called into question and is therefore reasonably alleged to 
subsist.  It is submitted that these sections of path must now be protected by 
being recognised on the Definitive Map as restricted byway.

15.42 Thus the recommendations are that:

(a)That no order be made to add a public footpath along the claimed route 
(b)That an order be made to add a length of restricted byway to the Definitive  

Map of Public Rights of Way between points A and B, and 
(c)That an order be made to re-classify part of Public Footpath KCH50 between 

points B and D to restricted byway. 

16.  APPENDICES

A. Location Map 1:10,000
B. Application Form 1 and map at 1:2500 scale 

Page 120



C. 1:2500 scale map of the claimed path, and its continuation between points A 
and E.

D. Photos of the route between points A – E taken 7/10 & 23/11/15
E. Summary of Public Path Evidence Forms submitted 2006
F. Land Registry - landownership
G. Inclosure Award map, 1805
H. Private Estate map of Joseph Pitt c. 1806
I. Chedworth Tithe Map 1844
J. Ordnance Survey Map 1883 
K. Ordnance Survey Maps 1900/ 1925/ 1980 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



Chedworth is half way between 

the towns of Cirencester and 

Cheltenham

P
age 169



Appendix 1  

Key:-

Claimed path (red)

A –A1 –A2 – B 

Public Footpath KCH50

(blue)

B – C

Public footpath KCH50 dual

classified with the 41042 road

(green on top of black dashes)

C- D

41042 road (green path)

D - E

P
age 170



View from point A looking  north west along Restricted Byway KCH31 (Horses Ash Lane)

P
age 171



Standing at point A looking east  south-east along  Restricted Byway KCH31 (Horses 

Ash Lane) 

P
age 172



Photo taken from point A (junction of claimed (red path) and Horses Ash Lane) in a south 

south-westerly direction along the enclosed claimed path - de-faced notice shown to the right.

P
age 173



Close up of notice at point A installed by landowner regarding use of claimed (red path) on his 

land.

P
age 174



View from enclosed claimed (red path) in south south-westerly direction towards point A1

P
age 175



View from point A1 in north north-easterly direction towards point A along enclosed claimed 

(red path).  Shows the change of surface from tarmac to stone (covered in leaves)  

P
age 176



View from claimed enclosed tarmac (red path) in south south-westerly direction (just 

before point A1) with the boundary wall to The Barn on right

P
age 177



View from point A1 in a south south-westerly direction to point A2 showing the unenclosed 

section of claimed (red path). The Barn is to the right.  A speed hump is located along this section.   

P
age 178



View from point A2 along claimed (red path) in south south-westerly direction towards point B  

P
age 179



Point B in a south south-westerly direction towards Hills Farm where Public Footpath KCH49 

crosses.  The continuation of the claimed path becomes Public Footpath KCH50 (blue path)

P
age 180



View taken at Point B in an easterly direction on claimed (red path) at junction with 

Public Footpaths KCH49 & KCH50 showing the steps and gate. 

P
age 181



View taken from point B on claimed (red path) in a west north-westerly 

direction showing the steps on Public Footpath KCH49 leading to point D 

P
age 182



De-faced notice at point B on claimed (red path) installed by landowner in 2006

P
age 183



View taken along Public Footpath KCH50 , continuation of red path, (section coloured blue) 

in a south south-westerly direction towards Hills Farm

P
age 184



View taken from Public Footpath KCH50 (blue path) in a south south-westerly direction  -

access to Hills Farm on left.  Photo shows second speed hump.

P
age 185



View taken from Public Footpath KCH50 (blue path) at start of Hills Farm Drive.  Left fork 

towards point C and right fork towards point B.

P
age 186



View from point C along the section of Public Footpath KCH50  dual classified with the 

41042 road towards point D.  (Shown green/ black dashes ). 

P
age 187



View from point D in a north easterly direction towards point E along the 41042 

road (green path). Public Footpath KCH49 on the right. 

P
age 188



View along the 41042 road (green path) towards point E

P
age 189



P
age 190



P
age 191



P
age 192



P
age 193



P
age 194



P
age 195



P
age 196


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Additional Bridleway and Upgrade Footpath ZCK/6 (part) to Bridleway, Greenway Lane to Ryeworth Road, Charlton Kings
	Copy of Greenway Lane to Ryeworth Road Evidence Form Spreadsheet
	agenda item 4 appendices A to E
	4. App F to L (i)
	4. L (ii) to N
	4. App O to R
	Ryeworth Presentation

	5 Additional Footpath - Hills Farm track to Horse's Ash Lane, Chedworth
	5. Appendix A-D
	Agenda item 5 part 3
	Agenda item part 4
	Chedworth Hills Farm Power Point 1-12-15




